

ERP LN implementation in an industrial context at ID6 – Consultoria e Gestão

Mariana Palhares da Cunha Bessa

Dissertação de Mestrado

Orientador na FEUP: Prof. João José Pinto Ferreira Orientador na ID6: Engenheira Adélia Fortes



Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto Mestrado Integrado em Engenharia Industrial e Gestão

2011-07-21

To my family and friends

Abstract

Enterprise Resource Planning systems can provide an integrated business solution and improve a company's ability to compete in the marketplace. Among many benefits, the integration of data and applications, the capability to replace old or fragmented systems, cost reduction, the adoption of best practices in organizational processes, and overall performance improvement are the most cited.

However, various difficulties can come across during the system's implementation. To justify the investment, critical success factors should be followed to assure a satisfying transition to the new system.

Sonafi, which produces aluminum die casting parts for the automotive industry, is constantly under tight delivery schedules, thus requiring integrated information to fulfill their clients' orders promptly. Although they are already using an ERP system - Baan IV - it is outdated, and now they will implement a new and improved version - LN Feature Pack 7.

ID6 was the company chosen to perform this implementation. To that end, a prototype was created, which first needed to be parameterized, and only then was possible to study how Sonafi's processes could be performed on the system. Even though an ERP system comprises many areas, the work performed on this project only concerns sales and warehouse management, since they are the most used processes.

Besides being a much more user-friendly software, ERP LN provides the user with enhanced tools to facilitate its work. Regarding the scope in question, many improvements were found. Added flexibility, less steps to perform the tasks, a specific process to complete consignment orders, and clear visibility of all information interactions leads the way to operation efficiency and faster deliveries.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Engineer Adélia Fortes, whose readiness to help, understanding, and tranquility, added considerable to my experience. Furthermore, all people in the company helped me feeling welcomed into the group and assisted in my learning process, aiding in everything they could.

A very special thanks goes to Professor João José Pinto Ferreira, my supervisor at FEUP, who accompanied my progress, gave important inputs on methodologies and references, and essential advice on how to improve the dissertation.

I would also like to acknowledge the support and encouragement of my family and friends, without who would be much harder to finish this dissertation.

Finally, I recognize the financial aid given by the company and express here my gratitude.

Table of contents

Introduction	1
1.1 Presentation of ID6 – Consultoria e Gestão, Lda	1
1.2 Presentation of Infor	1
1.3 Purpose of this study	2
1.4 Project phases	2
1.5 Development of the prototype	3
1.6 Structure	4
State of the art	5
1.7 Supply Chain Management	5
1.8 A brief history of ERP systems	6
1.9 Enterprise Resource Planning	6
1.10 Critical success factors	7
1.11 Supply Chain Integration	11
Framing the problem	15
1.12 Presentation of Sonafi	15
1.13 Upgrading	15
1.14 Upgrade at Sonafi	17
1.15 Objectives	17
1.16 Scope	18
1.17 Working on ERP Baan IV	19
The proposed solution	25
1.18 OPIM	25
1.19 The advantages of ERP LN FP7	27
1.20 Working on ERP LN FP7	30
Prototype presentation	37
1.21 Getting started	37
1.22 Actions to fulfill a SS	38
1.23 Actions to fulfill a SS – consignment case	
1.24 Customizations	45
1.25 Results evaluation	
Conclusions	49
References	
Appendix A: Organizational Chart	55
Appendix B: Detailed plan	57

Acronyms

BP: Business Partner
BPR: Business Process Reengineering
CSCMP: Council of Supply Chain Management Professionals
CSF: Critical Success Factors
EI: Enterprise Integration
EDI: Electronic Data Interchange
ERP: Enterprise Resource Planning
ES: Enterprise Systems
FP7: Feature Pack 7
IS: Information System
MIEIG: Mestrado Integrado em Engenharia Industrial e Gestão
MRP: Material Resource Planning
MRP II: Manufacturing Resource Planning
OPIM: One Point Implementation Methodology
SC: Supply Chain
SCI: Supply Chain Integration
SCM: Supply Chain Management
VMI: Vendor Managed Inventory

Introduction

In this chapter I will begin with a presentation of the various entities involved in the development of this project, followed by the objective of this study, as well as an explanation of all the involved steps. Subsequently, I describe the methodology used to write this document.

1.1 Presentation of ID6 – Consultoria e Gestão, Lda

This Portuguese company was created in 2002 with the objective of developing, implementing and maintaining projects within the scope of Information Systems (IS). Its specialization is focused on industrial markets, particularly in adding value to the factory management and finite production planning, using ERP - Enterprise Resource Planning.

The main objective of this company is to provide services and solutions based on the clients' needs, acting as a trustworthy partner. The experience provided by the technical and managerial staff assures a commitment based on trust and quality (ID6, 2008b)

Nowadays, ID6 is the only reseller of Infor's products in the Portuguese market, namely the ERP LN line. This means it is the only with authorization to sell these products and look for new clients. It is also the only company since 2009, allowed to render services for the clients' users of Infor Baan IV and LN (ID6, 2008a).

Technology is constantly evolving, and so are the market needs. To help enterprises keep up with those changes, ID6 provides an auditing service to determine if the processes are up to date and if the supporting information system is adequately aligned.

A final report is then presented, providing a complete description of the service, including the methodology, the profiles of people who should get involved in the project, conditions, materials and time needed for meetings.

Besides its main business, that deals with the implementation and maintenance of Infor's Baan IV and LN, the company also offers other solutions to its clients, namely (ID6, 2008c):

- A new module developed in-house, called Human Factor Management;
- Find Balanced Scorecard;
- S-FLAI Shop-floor Application for Industry;
- APS Advanced Planning System;

Among many clients of ID6, we would highlight: A. Silva Matos, City Council of Funchal, Adira, Soneres and Sonafi. Under the scope of this project, ID6 will provide services to the last company, Sonafi – Sociedade Nacional de Fundição Injectada, S.A.

As the offered products require a collective output, the employees of this firm comprise specialists from a wide range of areas – finances, programming, quality, logistics and manufacturing.

1.2 Presentation of Infor

ID6 is the only Portuguese reseller of Infor's services, which is one of the leading providers of business applications. It has offices in 125 countries, 70000 customers worldwide (Infor, 2011a), and it is classified as the tenth largest software company in the world with

approximately \$2.1 billion in revenue. It was founded in 2002, as *Agilisys*, but during the last years it has grown by acquiring and merging with big companies like Infor Business Solutions (2004) and as SSA Global (2006). Most of its customers belong to the medium-sized discrete manufacturing in industrial equipment, high-tech electronics, automotive industry, metal and plastic fabrication, and aerospace sectors. Some of them are also in the business of process manufacturing, such as consumer goods, chemical, or food and beverage markets (Software, 2011).

Among the customers, we would underline American Airlines, Ferrari, the CERN, London Business School, Heinz Frozen Food Co., or Blockbuster. This company keeps a consistent 95% customer retention rate, one of the biggest percentages in the industry, being committed to a continuous growth through innovative solutions and global services (Software, 2011).

1.3 Purpose of this study

According to the study plan of the MIEIG lectured at Faculty of Engineering of University of Porto, the student is supposed to develop a project in a business environment. To this end, a partnership with ID6 was established.

Taking into account the work being executed at ID6, it was decided that the Sonafi's assignment would be the most adequate on-going project to involve the author of this dissertation, as this allowed the student to start with an ERP re-implementation from the beginning.

Sonafi has been working with Baan IV for more than 10 years, and this project aims at the ERP re-implementation by installing a different version called LN Feature Pack 7. This investment has not only the objective of updating the actual system to something more appropriate to the industry's requirements in these past years, but also to correct processes that are no longer performed properly.

To meet the rigorous demands of the automotive industry, along with Baan IV, an exclusive supplement to this market was implemented, which acts as an extension to the supply chain. Though, the newer version of the system integrates large developments on the Supply Chain Management (SCM), and subsequently Sonafi's investment in this field will decrease as it won't be necessary to add extra functionalities.

This re-implementation presents the opportunity to Sonafi for rethinking its *modus operandi* with the support of experienced consultants. Seeing as LN is more advanced, more intuitive and, especially, more user friendly than Baan, the end users are expected to execute the procedures with narrowed range for mistakes. All these features will also enable getting the work done efficiently by the system, hopefully accompanied by exponential decrease in the use of other methods or tools.

1.4 Project phases

In order to understand the software solutions presented in the project, it was necessary to review all manuals and supporting literature. This was the first step towards gathering the know-how to grasp the client's current system.

The next phase was based on the study of the client's working method, which meant getting to know their processes and how the previous system was being used. Therefore, meetings were scheduled in both Sonafi and ID6 premises, since a close cooperation is an important step on the path to success.

In Appendix A, there is a interaction between the c and some possible impro-	in org onsu veme	ganizat Iltants ints no	tional c and Sc ted.	hart re mafi's	eferring Inform	the val ation 7	ious pa echnol	arts inv logy di	olved (rector,	on this _] all rele	project, vant m	namel anufac	y the ro turing	les per and loβ	rforme gistics	d by th proces	e studer ses wer	nt. Froi e ident	m the ified,
To assure the new ERP's the system up and runni discovery and validation have to be implemented.	s vers ng. A of ne	sion w After tl w seq	ould w hat, thi uences	ork ef e proto of pro	ficiently otype be ocesses	', it wa gan to for the	s first i take s require	necessa hape, v ed trans	ury to c with th actions	reate a e intro s. By th	test co duction en, it w	mpany of dat ⁄as per	impler a retrié ceived	nented wed fr the cha	with t om the inges c	he basi e custo of meth	c paran mer, as odology	neters t well <i>a</i> / that v	to put is the vould
All different phases and t	heir (duratic	on are 1	represe	ented in	Figure	1.												
GANTER IN	Fever	eiro 201	-		Març	0 2011			<u> </u>	bril 2011				Aaio 2011				Junho	2011
	ц	ی	2		<u></u>	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	50	21	22	23
LN's software study							2				2								
Baan's software study						100													
Sonafi's presentation																			
Factory visit							-												
Procedures survey							-			-									
ERP LN parameterization													-						
ERP LN functions' test																			
						Figure	1 – Chr	onology	of the	disserta	tion								

1.5 Development of the prototype

In order to understand the advantages and disadvantages of LN's implementation, particularly applied to this customer, a prototype with the main data of Sonafi was created at ID6. Since it was the first time LN's was being used in the company, this helped us learn the system's in-depth. We were able to better perceive its capabilities, and the problems that could arise from its application on the client's processes.

would not be able to perform a step that it is essential and unalterable. At this stage, the prototype also helped discover if there were any operations or relevant issues that had not been considered in the standard version. If needed, we would have to develop a customization, in order to allow the Occasionally, to articulate between the system and the client company's own methods, some customization is required, since, without it, the company company to complete an essential action or insert a specific informational field.

1.6 Structure

This introductory chapter features a presentation of the actors involved so that the reader could better understand the objectives of the work done, as well as the steps followed to get there. With a clear objective, it is easier to understand the problem in hands, as well as the way to solve it.

The next section presents the latest developments concerning SCM and ERP. Since the former is greatly affected by the latter, the link between them will be highlighted for an easier understanding of why ERP systems improve the company's performance. The chapter also provides information, backed by literature, regarding the main issues sprung from the system's implementation and the critical factors for its success.

Chapter 3 starts by explaining why there is a need to upgrade for a newer version of the system. Then, and within this project's work scope, processes currently supported by Baan IV, at Sonafi, are studied and the problems found in its use identified.

In chapter 4, the proposal for a solution is delineated. The methodology used for the implementation will be detailed, as will be the new processes and the improvements gained from the new system.

Chapter 5 concerns the prototype implementation, featuring the main sessions and particularities needed throughout the business process studied. Also, it is presented a synopsis of the gains resulting from the new system.

Finally, in chapter 6, conclusions are exposed. There is a discussion reflecting the problems and solutions found during the duration of this project, as well as the expected future work.

State of the art

On this section my purpose is to clarify concepts, definitions and relationships between the two main suites studied: the ERP system and SCM. Together they can decrease overall costs and improve customer service, by integrating information and processes. Yet, managers need to learn and understand some Critical Success Factors when implementing the ERP.

1.7 Supply Chain Management

According to the Council of Supply Chain Management Professionals, the management of the supply chain "encompasses the planning and management of all activities involved in sourcing and procurement, conversion, and all logistics management activities. Importantly, it also includes coordination and collaboration with channel partners" (extracted from CSCMP, 2011).

The Supply Chain Council (SCC) presents a model representing the SCM, called the Supply Chain Operations Reference (SCOR[®]), which provides a framework capable of linking business processes, metrics, best practices and technology features, all in a unique structure (Figure 2). Using this model, communications among business partners are supported and possibilities to improve effectiveness of activities in the Supply Chain (SC) emerge (SCC, 2011).



Figure 2 – The SCOR model (SCC, 2010)

Fundamentally, SCM acts as an integrating function with the primary purpose of delivering the right products to the right places at the right times, while also bearing in mind that the goal is to obtain the highest profits (Siems, 2005).

This approach improves a company's agility level, eliminates non-adding value activities, and allows enhancing overall organizational competitiveness, which is fundamental in a world of fast changing market requirements. It also stresses the benefits for all the participants in the chain through cooperation and information sharing (Gunasekaran & Ngai, 2003).

The essence of SCM is the effective information and material flow throughout a network of customers and suppliers, since activities based on information exchange, such as inventory positions or order fulfillment, will transform how the products are supplied, sold and invoiced. But in order to activate the material flow, first it is necessary to generate the information flow. Thus, the supply chain material flow will only be as good as the information that drives it (Donavan, 2011).

1.8 A brief history of ERP systems

In the late 1960's and early 1970's, due to the economic expansion, a new tendency to use computers in manufacturing companies spread widely (Buker, 2011). At this time, the main focus was inventory and cost control, which led to product-focused manufacturing strategies (Jacobs & Jr., 2006). From here, the logical progression was to start planning, scheduling and ordering material based on production requirements, made possible by the software called Material Requirements Planning (MRP).

These systems provided integration between forecasting, master scheduling, procurement, and shop floor control. They were perceived as a fundamental part of production management and control, so thousands of companies began implementing MRP (Jacobs & Jr., 2006). But in the 1980's, the concept evolved to MRP II – Manufacturing Resource Planning – extending its capabilities to sales forecasts, quality control, cost reporting features and distribution activities (Inc., 2010), already working as a company operating system (Buker, 2011).

Finally, in the 1990's, these two backbone systems gave way to ERP, a software capable of integrating business activities across functional departments (silos). The recognition that organization output is a function of all company resources was the trigger to ERP introduction, allowing the substitution of multiple standalone systems in favor of a unified business system (ERP.Asia, 2010)

1.9 Enterprise Resource Planning

There are many studies on ERP since the 1990's, when the business world embraced the use of enterprise systems (ES). Their acceptance is quite comprehensive, as they allow a company's data to be integrated throughout the entire organization.

Imagine sustaining dozens of different computer systems and the redundant data they would provide. The maintenance costs of each legacy system, undoubtedly providing key data to support a particular business activity, would be colossal, since it would be necessary to rationalize and reformat data along with debugging and updating software code in order to transfer information between systems (Davenport, 1998).

Even worse than the expenditures it would be the lack of coordination in real time. The fragmentation of information leads to lower productivity and performance: if sales cannot communicate with production, then the product will not be delivered in time; or if marketing systems are incompatible with financial-reporting systems, then management does not have the detailed background history to make decisions based on knowledge (Davenport, 1998).

An ERP system offers a solution to this problem by controlling all areas of business in one centralized place (Thilmany, 2010), a database. From here, the information is distributed into modular applications that support all business functions and departments, even if they are located worldwide. Likewise, information entered in one place is automatically updated to all associated fields, regardless of the area where they come from (finances, logistics, human resources, etc.), and become available to everyone (Figure 3).



Figure 3 – Anatomy of an enterprise system (Putra, 2011)

Nowadays stakeholders' concerns extend well beyond product or service requirements and encompass topics such as employees' safety, sustainability, customer satisfaction or social responsibilities. Thus, the need to develop an integrated system arises due to the possibility that various management systems are pulling in different directions and the incremental concern with organizational performance (Asif *et al.*, 2010).

By tightly linking business processes, such as purchasing, manufacturing, sales, or accounting, to operational business transactions and financial records, these enterprise systems became a technology strategy (Hestermann & Woods, 2009) capable of helping executives understand and contemplate all factors in real time.

Ultimately, they focus on amending resource planning and delivering value-added products/services to customers (Chang, 2004). The key is to "present a holistic view of the business from a single information and information technology architecture" (Klaus *et al.*, 2002, p. 141).

However, despite the benefits, there are also major concerns with ERPs implementations. For most organizations, this practice occupies the majority of their software's portfolio and establishes the capacity to compete in a global market. Hence, it simultaneously provides the greatest potential benefits along with the greatest potential risks (Gable, 2005).

1.10 Critical success factors

Although the promises are worthwhile – improved productivity, competitive advantage and enhanced customer satisfaction (Somers & Nelson, 2002) – the risks in an ERP

implementation are also worthwhile mentioning, specially because they can become a landmark in a company's life.

An ERP Report conducted by the Panorama Consulting Group, via online polling and during a six month period (June to December of 2010) reveals worrisome results. The sample size consisted of 185 participants from 57 countries, and the survey reveals the following (Group, 2011):

- 61,1% of ERP implementations take longer than expected;
- In 74,1% of the cases the costs exceed the initial budget;
- 48% respondents perceive the benefits to be less than 50%.

Thus, there is evidence that supports the need to improve these numbers. To do so, certain factors are proposed to help the implementation commissioning and smooth operation. Due to the increasing number of failures in completing this task, research on Critical Success Factors (CSF) has proliferated.

Bullen and Rockart (1981, p. 7) defined CSF as the "limited number of areas in which satisfactory results will ensure successful competitive performance for the individual, department or organization". Given that in a enterprise system those areas affect more than managers, opinions from all stakeholders groups should be considered (Finney & Corbett, 2007).

Foremost it is necessary to clarify that the implementation's struggle occurs not because ERP solutions are poorly designed, but because there is a general lack of knowledge on how this type of system should be carried out (Shehab *et al.*, 2010). Though at first, it may seem solely as an information technology (IT) project, ERP project success depends more of people than of software (Figure 4).



Figure 4 - Components in a business solution (Brett, 2010)

There are at least 26 CSF categories found in the literature (Finney & Corbett, 2007), but this study focuses only 6 factors: those most cited in the literature.

1. Top management commitment and support

Managers have an enriched role in this process, and it is their duty to monitor the progress of the project and, in addition, provide directions for the implementation teams (Somers & Nelson, 2002). Since they represent leadership, everyone will be expecting strategies, assurance, and even technical expertise from the top management level (Finney & Corbett, 2007).

The people at the top must have enough strength and authority over all stakeholders, in order to resolve political conflicts that lead to unproductive delays. When the need to make important decisions regarding restructuring business processes arises, if there is no one trying to reconcile all interests, the silos' officeholders will be expected to maximize their own welfare. Sarker and Lee (2002) empirically provided support for the need to have strong and committed leadership at the top management level.

2. Change management

ERP systems introduce vast changes in business processes, and consequently, in how people do their jobs. It is not easy to explain to someone who is used to performing the same type of work for years that now has to do it differently. It results in suspicion, resistance, confusion, and errors if the staff is not trained effectively.

To prevent opposition it is important to adopt measures right from the early stages (Somers & Nelson, 2002), and for this purpose a program should be placed in motion. The objectives are to build user acceptance and create a positive attitude, attained through knowledge about ERP's system need and benefits (Finney & Corbett, 2007). Also, it is necessary to recognize the impact that a program of such complexity would have on the entire business, from technology to tasks, including people, structure, and culture.

Sometimes the enterprise does not have the skills necessary to attain change management, so the solution would be to choose implementers with appropriate capacities or source individuals independently to create a team. The high priority should be placed in the end-users and initiatives such as creating project websites or newsletters regarding the project's progress, accomplishments and benefits are crucial to the success (Ganly, 2011).

3. Business process reengineering and software configurations

What is at stake cannot be taken lightly; we are talking about the ERP adoption taking a few months if all default settings are accepted, or years for those attempting to do major customizations (S. Chung & Snyder, 2000). Besides, the more time it takes, the more specifications change, which forces technicians to being constantly adapting and adjusting to new requirements (Ehie & Madsen, 2004).

Contrary to information systems, an enterprise system imposes its own logic on a company's strategy, organization, and culture. It is composed of best practices, and even when customized procedures may be a source of competitive advantage, the company is pressured to approximate the standard. As a result, companies in this situation will need to reassess their processes to fit the system (Davenport, 1998), applying Business Process Reengineering (BPR) to produce a complete description of how the business will operate after the changes (Finney & Corbett, 2007).

If a company alters one of the modules, it can interfere with internal integration, which has to be carefully avoided (S. Chung & Snyder, 2000). There is a need to strive for a balance between the modifications to support an existing way of working, hence an easier adoption, and too many alterations that may result in scope creep, budget overrun and loss of best practices incorporated in the software (Ganly, 2011).

Besides, the ERP software is in constant evolution, consequently resulting in upgrades over the years. If customizations are not used carefully, those upgrades will result in complex tasks. Indeed implementation must be flexible enough to allow modifications where the procedures or politics demands it, but ensure they are not simply a matter of "we've always done it this way" (Ganly, 2011, p. 8).

4. Training and job redesign

Among the targeted user training programs, we can distinguish among the project team, endusers or IT staff. However, all programs should have an element of hands-on, as well as clarification of how positions in the company may need to be restructured along with compensation plans (Finney & Corbett, 2007). When the system is up and running, if training is not completed, users may not know how to use and maintain it.

An ERP system is greatly affected by human competence and knowledge, and it is optimized when those factors are maximized (Shehab *et al.*, 2010). Understanding how data flow through the system and how it is operated at each point are key points in the formation (Ehie & Madsen, 2004). Furthermore, training should not be devalued in the period following implementation because skills can always be enhanced.

The instinct to resist at first is natural, as people create an "inertia" associated with using the previous system. The objective of education is to break this feeling through clearly showing the benefits to the employees – the amount of information they have to handle everyday is going to decrease substantially once it is entered into the system (Rajagopal, 2001) – and creating a perceived usefulness in their job performance (B. Chung *et al.*, 2008).

5. Project team

The implementation team should be comprised of the organization's best and brightest individuals (Finney & Corbett, 2007), preferentially with experience in ERP implementations, who are motivated, enthusiastic, good team players (Ganly, 2011), and, as a whole, balance business and IT skills. Also, they should work in the project on a full-time basis.

Unfortunately, there is a big problem in putting together the appropriate team because management struggles fearfully to replace the jobs they occupied without affecting productivity (Shehab *et al.*, 2010). However, this is a critical factor, and, as such, it must be done. The costs associated with backfilling the positions can be built into the project's budget (Ganly, 2011), to minimize the inconvenient.

6. Consultant selection and relationship

Chang (2004, p. 5) found that "while there appear to be experts on individual modules, what seems to be lacking is an informed overview of the system, which enormously impacts on the ability to use the system efficiently and effectively. This is why many organizations use external consultants to assist with the implementation process".

Consultants can help in the setup, installation, and customization of the software thanks to their experience with the application, knowledge of modules and understanding in specific industries (Finney & Corbett, 2007). Such expertise is capable of providing requirements analysis, recommending a suitable solution, and managing the whole implementation.

Another function of the consulting firm is to develop a robust strategy for knowledge transfer to internal employees (Gable, 2005), since they will be the long term users of the new system and the dependency between the two parties has to decrease over time.

It has already been shown that when managed and executed properly, ERP projects can be very successful and beneficial to the organization. The enterprise leaders must be able to

recognize common roadblocks and proactively take actions against them, beginning with addressing CSF to mitigate some of the risks associated with implementation.

1.11 Supply Chain Integration

Customers are increasingly becoming more demanding, and to meet their requirements while attaining profitable growth, firms are focusing on improving SCM. But to achieve better levels of customer service, more than one worker's output, or one functional area is needed. Therefore, departments must collaborate willingly and be compliant (Ellinger, 2000).

This kind of voluntary interaction is a must in order to fulfill a mutually acceptable outcome for the organization, and only possible if manufacturing, purchasing and logistics work together to achieve internal integration (Pagell, 2002). There is also external integration, which concerns unifying with customers and suppliers. Together, they constitute the Supply Chain Integration (SCI).

Zhao *et al.* (2008, p. 368) characterized SCI as "the degree to which an organization strategically collaborates with its SC partners and manages intra and inter-organization processes to achieve effective and efficient flows of products, services, information, money and decisions, with the objective of providing maximum value to its customers". Ultimately we are only recalling that SCM requires coordination between all departments, all business processes, and all partners, and as was previously said, it needs impeccable information flow.

It is easy to understand that the absence of horizontal collaboration may result in promises that cannot be met, *e.g.* if sales promise to the client a particular delivery date, but if there is a lack of coordination with logistics, there is a great probability of failure (Ellinger, 2000). Other examples of internal integration, or lack of, are real-time searching of inventory level and operating data, periodic interdepartmental meetings, data shared among functions, use of cross-functional teams in projects, and use of ERP systems (Zhao *et al.*, 2009).

Ellinger (2000) proposes the use of an evaluation and rewarding system that values teamwork and cooperation as a way to create cross-functional collaboration. He also stresses the interconnection between integration and effective and efficient logistical service, since the former is able to coordinate areas involving multi-level participants (1996), develop a mutual understanding of responsibilities, promote solidarity, the sharing of ideas, information, and resources.

Even with incentives to discuss ideas, "SCM has always been a challenge of information integration" (Davenport & Brooks, 2004, p. 9) and "it is impossible to achieve an effective SC without IT" (Gunasekaran & Ngai, 2003, p. 270). Since SCM needs information flow to control the material flow, the ideal of allowing people to make decisions based on the latest and best updates from everyone else is only possible if real-time communication is achieved with well designed information systems (IS), like ERP systems.

As a result of using such IS, companies can now integrate similar functions spread over different areas and the unnecessary activities stand out, placing firms in the right path to meet customers' needs and quality products' standards. Indeed, IS can be used for routine data processing, which may lead to cost reductions, but can reach their full potential when used for SCI; in this case, it may lead the enterprise to differential and sustainable competitive advantage (Kim & Narasimhan, 2002).

Gunasekaran (2003) further adds that without IT an organization can become obsolete, excluding them from doing business with other enterprises. Even if presently everything

seems well and there is no apparent need for IT, it only demonstrates lack of strategic thinking.

When companies started using ERP systems, these were not focused on the SC, but instead on executing and integrating internally-oriented applications to support finances, accounting, manufacturing, order entry, and human resources. It was only when a certain degree of Enterprise Integration (EI) was reached, that concerns over the improvement of the supply and demand planning, plant scheduling, transportation, and warehouse management arose. At this point, additional functionalities were added to the ERP to support those concerns, whilst also offering a better modular integration (Davenport & Brooks, 2004).

So, it is fair to say that ERP systems have played a major role in developing SCM (Gunasekaran & Ngai, 2003), which should not come as a surprise since ERP allows the flow and processing of information necessary to support the SCM functions. Essentially, ES offer ways to decrease costs of internal supply chain operations because they provide a shared foundation of information (Davenport & Brooks, 2004).

Inasmuch as ERP provides the backbone in an organization to respond promptly to customers and suppliers, many firms have implemented these systems to contribute to SCM in technical areas such as standardization, transparency and globalization (Su & Yang, 2008). As a result, it is likely that the control over logistics increases with the data integration that the ERP allows (namely collecting, managing, and sharing it) (Rutner *et al.*, 2003), inside and outside of a corporation.

So far, the focus has been on internal integration, but SCI also concerns external integration, which means maintaining relationships with the business partners present in the supply chain. However, only when "integration has been achieved across the enterprise, it begins to seem possible to attack the larger issues of the extended SC" (Davenport & Brooks, 2004, p. 10).

In fact, there are some empirical studies supporting this statement. Braunscheidel and Suresh (2007) found a positive influence of internal integration on external integration, as well as Zhao and colleagues' study (2009, p. 20), who argued that "a company performing well in internal integration will more likely integrate with external partners".

Already in 2004, (Mentzer, p. 24) laid down a fundamental concept for SCM, which was the necessity of first coordinating functions within the company, and only then try to coordinate with companies within the SC. Even before that, Bowersox (1989) created a clear path for SCI, going from integration of internal logistics to external integration, through shared information and strategic linkage with suppliers and customers (Figure 5).



External Supply Chain

Figure 5 – Supply Chain Integration

Moreover, with internal integration, the capability of later on learning from external partners is magnified (Zhao *et al.*, 2009). And we must not forget the major role IT plays in SCI, as the positive relation established by Ward and Zhou (2006), between within-firm IT integration and among-firms IT integration. Also, Bendoly and Jacobs (2005) stated that ERP systems can be used to facilitate inter and intra-organization communication, establishing the foundation for external integration.

In practical terms, if the firm cannot perform real-time searching of inventory, for example, it will also not share real time data accurately with trading partners. Thus, an ERP system solves this problem, since it breaks functional silos among internal units, and synchronizes processes, facilitating operations with external partners. Furthermore, the data provided internally, helps the company identify critical issues regarding suppliers (Zhao *et al.*, 2009).

Learning is also another good measure to strengthen relationships, as Panayides (2004, p. 76) found in his study. Commitment to learning, intra-organizational knowledge sharing, shared vision and open-mindedness, was found to cultivate the "development of relational exchange as well as promoting the effectiveness of the logistics service". Those values will lead to a greater commitment towards the development of inter-firm relationships.

The SC offers substantial opportunity for inventory and working capital reductions, but beyond that, it also offers the possibility of closer relationships with business partners (BP) (Davenport & Brooks, 2004). Therefore, it is necessary to work towards this goal, where ERP systems connect not only to different functions within a firm, but also among partners, enabling the exchange of information such as order status, product schedules, and sales records, and integrates processes, production plans, and marketing promotions (Gunasekaran & Ngai, 2003).

In sum, the goal is to improve customer service. Intra and inter-organizational integration provide the coordinative expertise and information requisites necessary to achieve this.

Framing the problem

In this section, I reveal the company under study, along with the details concerning the ERP system in use at this moment. I theoretically explain why the company should upgrade the system, and demonstrate the daily problems it deals with. As a result, improvements to be achieved will be made clear in the next chapter.

1.12 Presentation of Sonafi

Sonafi – Sociedade Nacional de Fundição Injectada, S.A. was founded in 1948 and although it started as a producer of both hardware and aluminum die casting pieces, nowadays it specialized only in die casting components for the automotive industry.

This company was able to expand to international markets supplying a range of important customers, such as Renault, General Motors, Ford, Mercedes, Volkswagen, Porsche, among many others. The geographical diversity of markets demonstrates the competitive capability Sonafi acquired along the years (Sonafi, 2010).

The production in this factory never stops, and produces around 15 million parts for 16 different customers every year. The production of the aluminum pieces goes through five main stages: melting, die casting, trimming, surface, and machining.

ID6 implemented ERP Baan IV at Sonafi in the 1990's, and has been providing maintenance services ever since.

1.13 Upgrading

As any information system, ERP systems are in constant evolution in order to present the market products with substantial improvements. New versions on the market try to meet customers' requirements, as business processes change. Unfortunately for organizations, upgrades are made available quite regularly.

So, each time, companies face the choice of whether or not to migrate to the newest version of the system (Kremers & Dissel, 2000). However, there are times when this questioning is no longer an option, and IS migration is really required, due to changes on the business process and organizational objectives and strategies (Gunasekaran & Ngai, 2003).

Yet, software migration should not be taken lightly, given that it involves a major change resulting from the implementation of the newer version of an already installed ERP system (Kremers & Dissel, 2000). There are some opinions (Olson & Zhao, 2006) expressing that a major ERP upgrade should take place every three years so to keep the system running smoothly; others suggestions include assessing a system's capacity every five years (Stackpole, 2011).

Regardless of time, there are indicators telling us when it is time to upgrade. The persistence of ongoing problems caused by complex integrations and customizations is certainly a bad sign, as is also the lack of user interface enhancements and Web functionalities. These provide the company with solutions to meet evolving business requirements, such as allowing customers to send orders electronically (Stackpole, 2011).

Other reasons for change may be technical, for example the expiration of a support program, dissatisfaction with the current system or just trying to keep the system up-to-date. In his study, Kremers (2000, p. 55) reported "added functionality" as the most frequent reason for

migration. Olson and Zhao (2006) also state expansion of the enterprise and consolidation of systems as main reasons for change.

Among the added functionalities such as, internet procurement, employee self-service for human resources, business intelligence, and customer management may be highlighted. In addition, these functional areas can help with supply chain efficiency and operational excellence (Montgomery, 2004). Managers must understand that "ERP upgrades provide better opportunities to catch up with the current business development, improve their processes and build more efficient business models with new functions, new features and new processing styles" (Olson & Zhao, 2006, p. 131).

The motivation can no longer be solely about cost savings, but must also reflect the modular add-ons that bring business benefits (Beatty & Williams, 2006). IT executives are increasingly required to advocate the investment with a business case (Montgomery, 2004), which shows the increasing importance ERP upgrade is gaining. This process has to be seen as a natural step in the ERP software lifecycle, they are not avoidable, and it is the path to reach continuous improvement (Olson & Zhao, 2006).

Evidence of how much upgrades have been gaining relevance is the survey conducted by Delloite & Touche (2002), that asked 200 IT executives to name their companies' top priorities for the next 12 months. The results are shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6 – IT priorities in 200 companies (Delloite&Touche, 2002)

Also in 2000, another study conducted by AMR Research concerning the cost of upgrades, concluded that it takes 50% of the original software license fee and 20% of the original implementation cost per user to finish the upgrade project. One reason for those high values can be testing, which consumes 24% of the time and effort (Cited in Swanton, 2004).

Despite many companies being faced with upgrades, little research has been made about the subject (Olson & Zhao, 2006). One can only reason that any upgrade is a significant investment that must deliver return (Swanton, 2004) and that it involves lower levels of risk and uncertainty than initial installations (because the organization is already familiar with what the system should do) (Olson & Zhao, 2006). But this is no reason to disregard the work that has to be done, so it should be regarded and treated like a new project (Beatty & Williams, 2006).

1.14 Upgrade at Sonafi

As a manufacturer of components for the automotive industry, Sonafi is under a lot of pressure to deliver products on time. Besides, this market is extremely demanding, with high level of competition, complex products, and a global supply chain. From time to time, Sonafi is faced with new challenges, such as the following (Infor, 2011b):

- Vehicles need to meet certain requirements and market standards, regarding safety, efficiency, emissions, usage of alternative fuels, and the recycling and recovery phases at the end of their useful lifecycle;
- Consumers expect vehicles ever more sophisticated; so, to meet this expectation, it is necessary to be able to handle product development cycles more quickly;
- The SC of components, tools, equipment, and services is global. The challenge is to manage effectively to reduce costs, protect intellectual property and maintain high quality products;
- It is necessary to integrate new materials, products and manufacturing technology in order to reduce costs, improve efficiency, and accelerate the time needed to place the product in the market;
- Procedures and facilities have to be well managed to give room for new products, processes and equipment with minimal obstruction.

Outwardly, a company providing goods for such a fast changing industry needs to be continuously updated and ready to make alterations to their products and create new ones. It is here where informational technology can help the organization, by enhancing the quality and making available important information to them, their clients, and their suppliers.

As stated, the most recent versions of the software offer opportunities without precedents for the improvement of internal processes and services provided to the clients. The IT role is of the upmost importance, enabling organizations to transform themselves quickly and take those innovations to the market (Infor, 2011b).

So, Infor, in partnership with ID6, presents to Sonafi a project that is able to meet the challenges discussed here, and supports their business excellence. ID6 and their professionals were chosen because of their vast knowledge on the current version installed, Infor ERP Baan IV, the new system, Infor ERP LN Feature Pack 7 (FP7), and the business developed by Sonafi.

1.15 Objectives

After carefully detailing the business processes implemented in the client's Baan IV, it is necessary to fully understand Sonafi's present way of operating. Opportunities for applying the best practices will be identified, as well as any operational requirements (customizations). All these steps are performed by consultants, with the close collaboration of the employees' know-how and experience, from all of existing departments. In the end, it is anticipated:

The visibility of all business operations – including supply and demand, subcontracting, sales orders, and products' stock. Manufactures need to visualize several different systems at the same time to obtain a clear picture of supply, demand, and profitability.

Improved operational efficiency – through cooperation between all departments the results can improve daily.

Quicker delivery of clients' orders - by enhancing manufacture, provision, and transport.

More than performing a migration of the data to the new system's version, it is necessary to review business processes and procedures performed by final users (Infor, 2011b), which constitutes a re-implementation. In the end, only the master data and the pending operations are going to be transferred to the new software.

1.16 Scope

Although an ERP system enables a company to integrate the data used throughout the entire organization (Davenport, 1998), which includes Finances, Human Resources, Manufacturing, Warehousing, Sales, among others. Due to the limited time available, the problem handled in this dissertation restricts itself to the following areas (on Figure 3): sales and delivery, inventory and supply.

This means that the study will only concern the processes between receiving the clients' purchase orders and the order delivery. Evidently, those transactions include activities beyond the modules used, for example, financial applications, because after shipping the goods it is necessary to send an invoice, which in time will be translated into cash-flows. On the other hand, selling a simple piece implies checking materials availability, warehouse movements, and several documents.

Figure 7 pictures the areas involved on this project. The reality is complex, and manufactures have been working with it for years, but ERP systems try to improve communications between the circles. On picture below, the dark purple and dark blue circles are the areas where the study was concentrated.



Figure 7 – Different areas influenced by an integrated system

These were the modules and functions chosen because there are the areas the author was more familiar with, due to his background studies, firstly, and secondly, because the greatest differences in live operation reside between Baan IV and ERP LN FP7.

1.17 Working on ERP Baan IV

With the purpose of allowing Sonafi to manage the supply chain, when the ERP was implemented, it was also necessary to add an extension, specifically designed for the automotive market and with particular focus on delivery deadlines, called Supply Chain Sales Schedule Control (SSC). This occurred because the standard software does not allow the creation of contracts with partners, with agreements about deliveries, prices, quantities, schedules, and other conditions (Baan, 1996). With this extra module the opportunity to sell and ship items based on a schedule was added.

Obviously, at that time Sonafi incurred additional costs to have this supplementary functionality. It also shows that if the module is not yet standard, there is certainly a lot of room for improvement.

In an initial phase of the project, there was an auditing phase to perform process identification in the client's facilities. This was one of the initial tasks where the author played an active role, participating in the discussion – concerned with reevaluating tasks, activities, and processes, related with general procedures and mainly with sales orders. From this auditing, an overall design for the referred business process was composed (Figure 8).



Figure 8 – Overall process map for "Sales Order Fulfillment"

In this dissertation, business process is defined as "a complete end-to-end set of activities that provide value, through the delivery of a product or service, to the customer of the process" (Sharp & McDermott, 2009, p. 14). From this definition, it can be concluded that the process crosses the organization and its functional boundaries. In the case described, an overall process map is used to clarify what is in and out of scope.

According to the Gartner Group (Kaila, 2007), there are eight styles for end-to-end order management: make to stock, make to order, configure to order, retail order, subscription to order, orchestrate to order, engineer to order, and relationship to order. Each one has its own degree of complexity and customer configuration, and using the appropriate style each can lead to strategic advantage. They all start with a key trigger, the main influence to the configuration and fulfillment of different order types, and have diverse key activities and key component linkages.

At Sonafi, the business process starts with an order, which is configured by the customer, and sent to the sales department. So, according to the classifications proposed by the Gartner Group, the type of end-to-end order management fits the make to order (Figure 9). What happens is that, after receiving the quote, a capable to promise activity results in a firm order and a manufacturing order issued. In the end the receipt will launch the collection process. Note that the specifications are fixed before the firm order is given.



Figure 9 – Make to order (Kaila, 2007)

Going into more detail about the Sonafi sales process, the company uses sales schedule (SS), which support long term sales with frequent deliveries. This schedules are created for specific goods and are used in cases where full visibility and time phasing of material requirement information is necessary (Infor, 2008a). At Sonafi, the customer requirements are received by three means: fax, electronic data interchange (EDI), or e-mail. Being EDI the most common method of communication between the supplier and the customer, when the message enters on the ERP and is processed, it automatically creates a SS. If information about sales is received by one of the other two ways, it it necessary to create a SS manually.

Along with the SS, a contract information is necessary to create a planned delivery. Each contract is exclusive for one article, one client, and one delivery address. It also has a validity, and during this time the price is fixed. Basically, the contract shows us the selling price and where it is going to be delivered. However, it does not inform as to when the item will be delivered. This last information comes in only with the SS.

The next step, following having a planned delivery date and all the information needed from the contract, is to print a document with this data for the warehouse staff. This paper shows, for each day, what has to be packed and for which client; thus employees have the information necessary to prepare the order. After delivery, the only thing left to take of is the invoice, so as to receive payment for shipped products.

The flowchart with all the steps needed to perform the refered operation will be detailed further ahead, but following are some impressions resulting from the first auditing:

Notes from the meeting:

The IT's director at Sonafi, present at the meeting, refered the existent resistence to change, as is expected in every ERP implementation. There is still a great dependency on scattered systems, such as Excel. Naturally, this is an obstacle to overcome with the proper training and clarification about the advantages that may arise with the new system.

In a more technical note, users complain about the lack of system's flexibility. For example, once labels have been printed, the assigned information can not be changed. Because of that, employees use another system to manage labels, since the ERP does not allow last minute alterations. Moreover, though ERP is perfectly prepared to plan material requirements for production orders, it is not used for the purpose.

At Sonafi, the only actions taken, regarding manufacturing, are the creation of production orders. But quantities are inserted either by experience or retrieved from other programs (Excel for example). Then, job sheets are printed (containing all the information requiered to carry out an operation) and manufacturing is carried out. The advantagens of using an ERP system, for a company in such a demanding market, are vastly diminuished without linking sales, stock management, and purchase necessities. If the client started using the software with this ambition, it could improve greatly his perfomance.

Another problem of adjustability is a concrete case related to subcontracting. The software only allows the entire manufacturing order to be produced out, but many times they only want to send some parts of it. That is, if the order is 100 pieces, they cannot subcontract only 50.

Moreover, complaints about the accuracy of information inserted in the system by employees, concerning operations, are many. Among these is the absence of reporting correctly (if at all) the manufacturing orders to the main warehouse, properly perform the reception of lots and packages, and accommodating all the accurate data into the advice notes.

Using Baan IV:

For the most part, these are the problems that stood out. Now, to aid the reader understand how Baan works, let us recall that the software is composed by modules (common, finances, projects...), and that each module can be decomposed in sub-modules (tables, common data...), that, in turn, present a group of three types of sessions (Figure 10):

- *Keep allows changes in the data or creating of a new set of information;*
- Consult it only serves the purpose of displaying data;
- List to print or view a defined aggregate of data.



Figure 10 - Baan's IV menu

In the problem's context, when practicing actions such as creating a contract, the "keep" session is used, but to print the advice note, the "list" session is used. These are mere details, perceived only by those who use the software, and not critical for this study, as the purpose is not to create an instructions manual.

Accordingly, the next phase will not be the exhaustive demonstration of how users, by department, would navigate on the system to complete a sales order. Rather, a flowchart (Figure 11) shows the processes needed to be completed. Below, it is the information regarding the value of the steps.





There is one exception to this process, which is the case of Vender Managed Inventory (VMI). When applied, clients only pay the products when these are used; the supplier is the financial owner until that point in time. This particular type of transaction is called consignment (Figure 12), and, for this purpose, a consigned (virtual) warehouse is created in the system.



Figure 12 – Consignment diagram

There are other types of VMI where the supplier determines when the client needs the stock replenished, but not in this case. Here, it is still the customer who provides the sales schedule. The difference from a normal sale lies in the fact that when produced, the materials are transferred to a given location at Sonafi's own warehouse. Then, an EDI message is sent to the client warning that the order is ready.

However, Baan IV does not have features for these types of transactions. As such, the employees have to use annotations to recognize consignment. In the clients' delivery address, it is necessary to perform customizations, to distinguish this situation. Also, the contract has to include information regarding where the products will be transferred when ready.

Then, after the client uses the designated stock, it is necessary to create a sales order to adjust the stock on the system. That is, due to the sales schedule resulting in a warehouse transfer, and not in an issue, it is obligatory to create another order to signalize the exit of materials. That represents twice the work, comparing to a normal sales. Only now the goods have in fact changed property, and it is possible to invoice the client.
The proposed solution

The methodology followed to deploy the ERP LN FP7 at Sonafi will be presented in the following paragraphs. Also, the business process studied in the previous chapter is now adapted and improved; thus, the new flowchart will be described, along with the overall enhancements accomplished by this version.

1.18 OPIM

One Point Implementation Methodology was developed by Infor to help maximize profitability and minimize the risks associated with the implementation of such critical systems. It will be used as a foundation for Sonafi's project, aiding towards accomplishing the transition's goals.

The tactic applies to all aspects of the implementation, ranging from the definition of the business agreement and the different responsibilities throughout the project's life cycle, to managing risk or knowledge transfer. Looking at OPIM, the reader will understand the plan, the consecutive steps, the responsibilities, and the tools used to overcome obstacles (Infor, 2011b).

Although its concepts are flexible to all projects implemented by Infor, it was adapted to Sonafi's specific needs. In Appendix B there is a detailed plan, specifying the tasks needed to perform, by whom, and when. There is also a table showing the project team, the student's roles, as well as the deliverables expected from different activities. The final purpose will be the complete transfer of knowledge from the consultants to the client's team. In this way, they can grow to be the engine of the new system and business processes.

The five main phases on this methodology are: **initiate, design, build, deploy, and closure.** The **Initiate** stage (Table 1) regards the definition of necessary documents to assess initial risk, and delineates the project's proposal: including objectives, responsibilities, organizations, administration processes, goals, and deliverables.

This is a very bureaucratic step, where the two actors involved, Sonafi and ID6, had to reach an agreement. As so, the student was not implicated during this negotiation. Only when the time came to proceed with the installation of LN FP7 at ID6, was that the student started helping, since he had already read the literature available.

Potential benefits
Attain a realistic plan, with the available resources
Teamwork and cooperation
Minimizes confusion and disconnected

able 1 – Project's ge	eneral plan ((Infor, 2	2011b)
-----------------------	---------------	-----------	--------

After that, during the **Design** phase, the product is configured based on mutually agreed specifications to accommodate the business goals avowed (Table 2). The consultants had to meet with the Sonafi's Information Technology Director, the person responsible for this project on the client's side, in order to retrieve the necessary information to conceive the "To Be" processes. These constitute the match between the new product and the client's

operational specifications. Afterwards, since the consultants already had an idea of what the client needed from the ERP, they were able to predict if developments were going to be necessary in the future.

Activities	Potential benefits
Train consultants on Infor applications – the student read all the manuals available on the subject	Knowledge foundation for decision making
Design product with the client's team – meetings between the IT director and the consultants were scheduled	Product acquaintance and property
Design of "To Be" processes – based on the data collected during the meetings	Optimized business practices settled particularly for the client
Determine development needs – comparing what Sonafi is performing now and what they should be performing	Know from the beginning the customizations necessary to try and reduce them

Table 2 - Necessary activities for the design phase (Infor, 2011b)

In the third phase, **Build**, it is time to connect all products' pieces and test exhaustively, to help guarantee the successful activation of the new ERP (Table 3). Through simulation of business operations, pilot tests assist on clarifying operational flows and company's necessities; also, they evaluate alternative paths in the system usage and help comprehend the decision-making process.

Creating the prototype is one of the most important tasks, since each successive attempt allows the consultants to be aware of needed configurations and modifications to the processes. First we started with the ERP parameterization, just to be able to open the sessions, and only then we introduced the minimum data necessary to coordinate the sessions and start building a flow on the system. If any problems were to be found during this approach, the first step was to search the manuals for a solution. If that method failed, there would be a need to develop a customization, in order to solve the issue. At the end of this stage, the desired flowcharts were created, and this was the last task performed by the student after the five months assigned to this project.

Activities	Potential benefits
Detail procedures – obtained by experimentation in the ERP LN	Helps guarantee the necessary discipline
Create initial users' formation documents – the processes' flowcharts	Users start acknowledging the solution and it is easier to update documents throughout the changes
Verify and polish future processes – the prototype is an iterative process	Project's risk is minimized
Approval of test plan created by the client	Protects the investment

Table 3 – Steps taken on the build phase (Infor, 2011b)

Deployment encompasses the work of consultants and the project's team all together, throughout the transfer period, to help execute the transfer plan and carry out the transition to

the new system (Table 4). It is during this phase that final users are trained to perform their jobs with the changes implemented, new politics, and procedures previously developed. The training can embrace e-learning, computer guidance, individualized education and instructor guided coaching.

In most cases, the acceptance of end users raises when part of the training is administered by members of the project team, in this case, the IT director, because they are learning from people they already know and trust. In addition, members from this team expand credibility and acceptance, since they are seen as experts on the system, and increase the trust needed on themselves to run the new software, now that they are the owners.

Activities	Potential benefits
Implement the final pilot test results and internal processes	Daily tasks are detailed and comprehended
End users training	Competencies acquired to perform the designated function and risk of interrupting operations decreases

Table 4 – Activities	performed	durina	deployment	(Infor.	2011b)
	pononnou	aanng	aopioyinoine	\o .,	

Last but not least, the project culminates in the **Closure**. Here, the activities are accomplished, the final assessments performed, and the recommendations transmitted, all favoring the foundations for ongoing support. To facilitate the system's pos-activation, the consultants continue addressing doubts that may arise on the following weeks, or even months, and also create a final assessment on the processes implemented, with the intention of realizing if supplementary actions are required.

Activities	Potential benefits
Appoint basic training necessities and additional if needed	Measure end user efficiency and system performance
Identify open questions and business processes conflicts	Tunes politics and procedures
Recommend additional measures	Establishes a plan to answer further necessities

Table 5 – Closure's steps (Infor, 2011b)

These are the constituent phases of OPIM that aim to facilitate the implementation and decrease potential problems and risks. The execution of the referred steps supports the work plan, and helps manage it.

1.19 The advantages of ERP LN FP7

Contrary to Baan, developed in the 1990's, LN is a recent software. Actually, it is even the latest release of Infor. As a result, great improvements are to be expected - with new and superior features added. In fact, many enhancements have been made to the order management and to the warehouse management. But let us first address some of the general functionalities:

- Improved business agility;
- Supply chain flexibility;

• Screens with consolidated information (Figure 13). It is much more intuitive than Baan IV, starting with the colors, but also the functionality of many new buttons and the necessary information available in tabs, instead of having to jump from screen to

🔗 Programação de venda - Linhas						
Arquivo Editar Exibir Ferramentas	Específico Ajuda	No. Contraction of the second s				
🗗 🖬 🖗 🎒 🗋 🖻 📽 🛙	i 📠 🕪 💠 🌩	斜 💋 🛛 💦				
" % 4 A A B 3						
Descrives de ponécies				Centrela		
Parceiro de neg. cliente	PAR000005	RECIAL	F	Progr.	31000032	_
Endereço	G0000004	RECIAL -REC. ALUMINIO, SA	1	lipo programação	Programação	de expedição
Contato			F	levisão	1	
Parceiro de negócios receptor	PAR000005	RECIAL	5	itatus	Aprovado	
Endereço	G0000004	RECIAL -REC. ALUMINIO, SA			🗌 Programaç	ão referenciada
Contato					📝 Revisões er	n uso
					📃 Vinculado a	às folhas de coleta
					🗹 Usar ord. cl	liente p/ program.
Item			(Contrato	2000	
Sistema cód item			C	Contrato	50000007	consig
Item do cliente			F	Posição	10	
Item		6104800002		Departamento de contratos	VND	Departamento vendas
	Throttle body M	/RV	(Ordem cliente	018	
Linhas de programação Ordens de arm	azém planejadas Linha	s de entrega reais Linhas fatura				
Linhas Exibir Específico 🎒 🗋	ħ × 🔒 💋					
Ordem planejada	Status	Data inic. do requisito	Quantidade solicitada	Quantidade entregue	Ref.	Ordem
310000032 1	0 Finalizado	18-05-2011 16:34	21.0000 un	21.0000 un		

screen;

• Processes that in Baan IV required several steps to be performed now can be quite simplified, by defining activities that are automatically completed when the previous step is executed. This allows the user to save time and narrows the margin for errors;

Figure 13 – Example of a screen with all the necessary information

- A status button showing the sequence of activities was added. It clarifies if these activities are carried out manually, if they are done automatically, or if there is yet something to be finished. For someone who is starting with the software, this function is extremely supportive, but even for those who are used to working in LN, it allows to always be aware of the steps already taken, as well as what steps comes next. In Figure 13, this button is illustrated by a red circle;
- Ease of use, for all the reasons mentioned earlier, and also due to the option to filter information by subjects, significantly reducing time losses due to seeking information;
- Integration with Microsoft office;
- Document attachment enabled;
- Service enhancements;
- Possibility of consulting the company's ERP information through the internet, using the Webtop;
- Significant developments in all modules;

• New modules – central invoicing, people, warehouse management, object data management, freight management, pricing control, customer relationship management.

It is already clear that the advantages for the user are many, but given that this study deals with order and warehouse management, it is now compulsory to establish in detail the functionality differences between Baan and LN on these subjects. Apart from the numerous changes not pertaining to the sales order fulfillment performed by Sonafi, such as selling customized items, cross-docking, or linking sales to freight management, there are still plenty of alterations.

Beginning with prices and discounts set up, and although on both software they can be introduced on the contract (only because an extra SC functionality is implemented in Baan, allowing the use of contracts at all), in LN the functionality is extended. It is possible to link a price book or a discount schedule to the contract, for example. The first option refers to an entity in which price information for items, such as base sales price, base purchase price, and unit price, can be stored and then used in the contract (Infor, 2010b). Among other entries, a particularly interesting one is the break type, which specifies how discounts behave as sales quantity change. The discount schedule takes this last option even further, with increased available criteria to choose from in the configuration.

However, before selling a product, we have to define that item on the software, and here there are many differences between the two systems. In Baan IV, items and the various types of item data are defined in the item control module on "Manufacturing". As the data answers to manufacturing, sales, purchase, and storage, it is then copied to the modules involved. But since there are other sessions where you can also define items, and there is no connection among the tables (where the data is stored for each session in the database), the same item code can be defined for different items.

In ERP LN, the general item data was moved to the basic item data on Common Data. All items are defined in the same session in order to prevent the same mistake of having more than one product for the same code. Simultaneously, module-specific details were moved to the items sessions in their respective sessions, to provide faster access to the desired item's data (Infor, 2010b).

If the item is manufactured, after introducing basic item data into the system, the cost of production must be calculated. To that end, cost price components are used, which break down the cost price into several types (labor, administration, machines, etc), along with the work center used, the tasks to be performed, the respective operation rate, the machines used in each task, their cycle time, and in general all of the different taxes applied. To combine these data, there is a session that automatically calculates the item's price. Overall, the information is the same in both software. However, in Baan it is much more disperse and confusing, which leads to additional steps.

Another change is in the designation for trade relations. In the old ES, trade relations are classified either as customers or as suppliers, however, in the new ES they are known as Business Partners (BP). Whether it is a customer or a supplier depends on the roles defined, that is, the first has to be classified as "sold-to", and the second as "buy-from". The BP role determines the types of transactions that you can carry out with them (Figure 14) (Infor, 2010b), but the screens are redesigned to render all roles. The usability has improved, with easy address creation, better display, possibility to view BP hierarchies, and the display of new tabs exhibiting activities, created notes, and contacts by BP (Infor, 2010d).



Figure 14 – Types of transactions with BP are defined by the profile (Pereira, 2010)

With regard to sales schedules, although in the regular version of Baan IV there is no SS functionality, with the extra feature implemented for SC control, this option was made possible. However, LN is completely prepared for this functionality and was even extended to utilize customer information in various processes - including conversion of external and internal codes, shipment building, delivery documents, and invoice creation. Furthermore, there is the possibility of creating a report that provides an overview of the ordered, delivered and to be delivered quantities for SS, and supports pay on use on warehouse transfers. Largely, functionality and usability were enhanced (Infor, 2010d).

After the clients' needs are known, it is necessary to prepare the orders. Nonetheless, as mentioned earlier, there is a new module used to manage warehouses. This is because in Baan only existed "locations", which are parts of the warehouse were the items are actually stored. As so, there are too many changes/new functionalities about the warehouse orders procedures to try and compare them. Thereby, this topic is going to be detailed later.

When the transaction is terminated, the client must be invoiced. In the old software, the invoicing was contained in each module, but now exists a singular module for this purpose. It is called the Sales invoicing and is located at central invoicing (Infor, 2010b).

Finally, a major enrichment was the support of VMI, and in the interest of this study, consignment. As was explained in Chapter 3, Baan IV does not have this functionality; therefore, users have to proceed with some artifices to recognize the process. Now there will be a new process to complete these kinds of transactions, to some degree different from normal sales. The flowchart with the necessary steps will be delineated later.

1.20 Working on ERP LN FP7

The main advantages of Infor LN, circumscribed to the scope of the work being performed, have already been highlighted. However, it is necessary to understand how these enhancements apply to the way the ERP works, as well as the pertinence of those features at Sonafi. So, the next step will be to explain how the solution has taken shape, and how the outcome affects the client's business processes.

When an ERP project starts, the first thing to do is create a company in the software. Each company is assigned a number, in Sonafi's case this number is 300, and it is where the consultants work -building basic information, so the sessions can be run, and inserting the

minimum necessary amount of particular data from the client, to understand how the processes interrelate.

Each module has a set of parameters that have to be filled, so that related sessions can be in operation. Most parameter data deals with inserting series to identify records, such as documents; but there are also other fields that determine the processes' results, or how specific information is going to be blocked with pre-determined data. For example, in Figure 15 is represented the "sales contract parameters", and checking or not the box inside the red circle determines whether contracts are mandatory in SS or not. Obviously, this is very important for consultants, because after apprehending Sonafi's processes they know that to create a SS first the client must have a contract, so, checking this box is a way of reducing end-user errors.

😑 Parâmetros de contrato de venda			
Arquivo Exibir Ferramentas Específico	Ajuda		
📑 🖬 🎒 🗅 🖻 🗳 😰 🖉	0 💦		
Geral Métodos/fatores Programações			
Data efetiva	A V		
Descrição Grupo real			
Parâmetros de programação			
Grupo de números para liberações		096 liveraçoes de venc	da
Série para liberações			
Tamanho do passo para posição de prog	r. de venda	10	
Tamanho do passo para posição de liber	ação de venda	10	
		sar contratos para prog	ramações
		Usar ord. cliente p/ progr	am.
		📝 Excluir liber. qdo a Progr.	de venda for excluída
Histórico			
		Histórico da programaçã	o de registro
Nível de registro de entrada		Tudo	•

Figure 15 – Sales contract parameters

Like this example, there are many more, scattered throughout the other parameters' sessions. The consultants assigned to create the prototype, in this case the student himself, have to be familiarized with all options and study what differences they produce. Only then can they choose the appropriate ones for the client in question.

When Baan was presented, a clear distinction was made between sessions used for changing and inserting data, for consulting information, or for printing it. In LN, this concept does not exist anymore. Now, sessions are composed by a header (with general details about the session) and lines (where you insert particular information related with the object), and users can perform all those actions on the same place (Figure 16). Also, when you open the main modules, there are dashboards to give a quick insight into the status of a particular object. In this way, the user is not required to go into the menus to open related sessions, because they are already made visible through buttons (Infor, 2010c).

ERP LN implementation in a industrial context

Programação de vene	ida - Linhas										
uvo <u>E</u> ditar Exibir	r <u>F</u> erramentas Espec	ífico Ajuda									
) 🖻 👔 🕼	1 k	1 🧭 🛛 🕎 🖌								
1 4 1	B A 3										
e + -											
arceiros de negócios	s						Controle	-			
arceiro de neg. clien	nte	PAR000002	Christian Salvesen Gerposa				Progr.			31	0000011
ndereço		G0000003	Christian Salvesen Gerposa				Tipo pro	gramação	,	P	rogramação de expedição
ontato							Revisão			2	
arceiro de negócios	receptor	PAR000002	Christian Salvesen Gerposa				Status			A	provado
ndereço		G0000003	Christian Salvesen Gerposa		Inder						Programação referenciada
ontato				r	1eader					1	Revisões em uso
		,									Vinculado às folhas de coleta
											Usar ord. cliente p/ program.
em							Contrato	,			
istema cód item							Contrato			SC	0000003 consignação
em do cliente							Posição			10	
em			610247CT02			_	Departar	mento de	contratos	V	ND Departamento vendas
		Tampa B. Óleo K4/9	9(7700600532)				Ordem o	liente		00	1
				_		-		_			
nas de programação	Ordens de armazém s	Janeiadar Linhar d	a antrana raair Linhar fatura	1							
has Exibir Especi	fice A D B			雨瓜」	四 月 周	:01	a la a				
			19-21-0-114	-10 20 9	na 1.455	mo	No. 1 Ber Co.				
						_	o		Ourantidade entres		I
Posição	Tipo requisição	Status	Data	inicial			Qtd. ordem		Quantidade entreg	Jue	Ket.
Posição 20	Tipo requisição Firme	Status Mercadorias e	Data ntregues 13-0	5-2011	12:36	*	20.0000	un	120.0000	un	Lines

Figure 16 – Example of a session with a header and lines

Assuming that the suitable parameters, as well as basic information about items, prices, business partners, and warehouses, are entered, the consultants are now able to start testing. The first step is the creation of a sales contract, and one cannot define two contracts that are valid simultaneously for the same BP and the same item. In the header, all relevant information about the trading partner is stored, including the following:

- Sold-to, ship-to, invoice-to, and pay-by BP;
- Sales representative employees;
- Terms of delivery;
- Currency and tax information;
- Terms of payment, payment method, and late payment surcharge.

It is in the lines that relevant item information is kept. The items have their own codes for the company; however, using item code systems enables the translation to external codes, so communications with the client are thus facilitated (Infor, 2010c). On those lines, the agreed quantity is filled, as well as the price, related price books, discount percentages or amounts, and the tax code.

The sales contract is valid for normal sales orders and for SS, since there is no separate mark indicating that the item is dedicated to one of the two. All relevant logistic data must be filled in on the lines, having a direct influence on the SS, which has to be created manually after the contract activation.

On the SS header, the information is really similar to the one already introduced in the contract. The SS can have diverse statuses during the schedule's life cycle, among them are:

- Created when not yet in use;
- Approved it is ready to use;
- Processed all lines have been delivered and invoiced;

• Terminated - no longer is valid.

In turn, the lines indicate the specific requirements, expressed in quantity and time, of the item specified in the header. But in order to actually process SS, is must be approved first. When this step is taken, a planned warehouse order is created, which decouples schedule updates from warehouse orders and serves as the interface between Sales, on one hand, and Warehousing and Invoicing, on the other hand (Infor, 2010a).

Directly from SS, or from the planned warehouse order, it is necessary to release the order to warehousing. When this is done, ERP LN creates a warehousing order with outbound order lines, to deal with activities related to the issue of goods from a warehouse and the preparation for shipment. Unfortunately, it is not always easy to see how schedule deliveries relate to SS. To eliminate this difficulty, Infor LN introduced a session, called "print sales schedules quantities overview", which summarizes the information about amounts ordered/delivered (Infor, 2010a).

Warehouse orders control the movement of inventory and account for it. These orders are also needed to centralize warehousing activities, such as register/approve actual issues and receipts, print documents, and track transactions (Infor, 2010b). The activities to be carried out for the outbound order line, in the warehouse order, are related to the type of inventory movement, and then linked to the order origin.

The activities chosen to handle the issue of goods and their shipment are:

- Generate outbound advice a list advising the location and lot from which goods must be picked and possibly issued;
- Release outbound advice releases the advice for the selected record, assigning a code to a group of warehousing order lines;
- Freeze/confirm Shipments/loads after this confirmation, the goods are moved to the shipping dock and have physically left the warehouse;
- Print delivery notes transport document providing information (delivery date, address, customer's name, contents, etc.) concerning the order to be delivered.

At this point, with the ordered items from the SS delivered, an invoice can be sent. To this end it is necessary to go back to the SS, where LN has filled the actual deliveries in the appropriate tab, and release the respective line to Invoicing, in the "release sales/schedules to invoicing" session. Afterwards, invoicing data can be processed.

All the steps here described are needed to fulfill a sales schedule, and now will be represented in the following flowchart (Figure 17):



Figure 17 - Flowchart of the business process "Sales Order Fulfillment", in ERP LN

In the previews chapter was mentioned the need to have a different process to complete the consignment orders, and also that LN has special features for all types of vendor managed inventory. Therefore, next we will study Sonafi's type of VMI, because, depending on that, how to proceed is considerably dissimilar.

According to Infor (2008b), there are three main parties in most VMI scenarios: the supplier, the contract manufacturer, and the customer. The first supplies components to the second, who then uses them to produce items for the customer. In Sonafi's case, there is only the supplier role (them), plus the customer role. They have to set up supplier role in LN.

For consignment, the principle is that the supplier is the owner of the goods until the costumer consumes them, the moment when ownership changes and payment is due (Table 6). In addition, the VMI warehouse has to be set as an administrative establishment for the party not responsible for warehouse management (Sonafi).

Scenario	Financial ownership	Warehouse management	Supply planning	Туре
Financial ownership by supplier	Supplier	Customer	Customer	Consignment

Table 6 – VMI scenario for Sonafi, according to LN (In	nfor, 2008b)
--	--------------

Although a SS is also created, it is necessary to pay attention to the fact that we do not want to issue goods. In fact, we only want to transfer them from the warehouse where they stay after being manufactured to the place where they are going to stay waiting for the withdrawal from the customer (administrate warehouse). As so, the type of order, in SS details, has to be set as "warehouse transfer", and in the warehouse procedures it will be created an inbound line, to signalize the entrance of products in the referred warehouse.

In the supplier's ERP LN system, when the client withdraws the goods from the administrative warehouse, the consumption is recorded in the "inventory consumptions". This session is used to view and maintain consumption data, and shows the received quantities provided by the supplier and the subsequent consumptions by the customer.

The header of this session is automatically generated when the administrative warehouse is replenished. It contains the name of the customer, the name of the warehouse, and the received and consumed item quantities. But in reality, until now, there is no connection between quantities entered and the sales schedule. In order to link these two records, there are two steps are required:

- When entering the SS line, on the references tab, a number for the customer schedules number and for customer schedule position must be entered;
- When entering the inventory consumption line, the same numbers from the SS references must be inserted.

In this way the consumption record is linked to the appropriate schedule, and, when processed, besides decreasing the inventory levels of the administrative warehouse, LN also creates an invoice line in the SS. To release the transaction to invoicing, the action is the same as in a normal SS (Figure 18).





Prototype presentation

Part of the work I was assigned to, was to help with the creation of a prototype. In this chapter, the main sessions necessary to complete the processes referred in the proposed solution, will be shown, to aid the reader visualize all that has been said until now. Also, the prototype development will also contrast the two systems: Baan IV and LN FP7.

1.21 Getting started

"Prototyping is an iterative, experimental, evolutionary method of building a system" (extracted from Rogers, 2008), efficiently approaching the definition of requirements (Guimaraes & Saraph, 1991). Among the advantages, there are the following:

- Users requirements easier to determine;
- Possibility to meet the users expectations more closely;
- Usability of the system can be tested;
- Assists to identify any problems with the efficacy of earlier design, and requirements analysis;
- Easier for end users to learn/use;
- Fewer changes needed after implementation;
- Users know what to expect at implementation;
- Fewer changes needed after implementation.

In order to simulate operational flows and afterwards serve as demonstration, it was necessary to configure a company and the modules to be implemented. To begin building the software design, the flow followed is shown in Figure 19:



Figure 19 – Flow used to define a new company on the system

Regarding the company data, represented in this Figure, it will not be detailed, since there are too many aspects and sessions that need to be used. When discussing about this step, we are referring to basic item data, business partners' information, calendars, prices, and basically all the little elements necessary to put the company up and running.

For starters, the default menu of ERP LN, is represented in Figure 20. Those are modules incorporated in the system, inside which are the sessions used throughout the processes. In the context of this study, the two most important modules are "Vendas" and "Gestão de armazém" (Sales and Warehouse management, respectively):



Figure 20 – ERP LN menu

As mentioned before, the purpose of this study is not to create a manual; however, there are some peculiar definitions that have to be laid out for the system to work. Seeing that discovering these settings is the main assignment of the author and that this will be crucial for future users' training, they will now be presented to the reader.

1.22 Actions to fulfill a SS

To create a contract, the user just has to go to the sales contract session, and after clicking on the icon with a blank page, insert the required information about the BP, dates, and the other data, as shown in Figure 21. On the line, he must choose the option "use shipping schedule" (represented by that orange circle), so that SS lines have the requirement type (used for scheduling) set as firm. In other words, demands will be handled as actual orders, which enables shipping.

Also, the warehouse order type can already be set on contract (green circle), so when the order is released (Figure 22) to warehousing, it automatically comes with the procedure to follow as default. Finally, the contract can be activated (red circle).

In order to have the procedure delineated when the warehouse order is created, it is necessary to define it. In the session "type of warehouse orders", depending on the inventory transaction type, a list of activities is offered, and from it we can choose whether to incorporate the activities or not, whether they are automatic, or if labels should be printed (Figure 23). Afterwards, the type of order should be linked to its origin (Figure 24), and then we are ready to navigate between Sales and Warehouse Management.

ERP LN implementation in a industrial context

Contrato de venda - Linhas Arquivo Editar Exibir Ferramentas	Específico Ajuda									
F - F - - - - - - - - - -		\$ Ø € ₹								
🕄 🕽 🗿 🐂 🖉 🗙			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
Venda	D A 200000 2	Christian Calum				Controle			<u>[0 c</u>	
Parceiro de neg. cliente	PAR000002		en Gerposa			Tipo ora.			JSS Ver	da
Endereço	10000003	Christian Sa	lvesen Gerposa			Dep vend	as			Departamento venda
CEP	64700	behobie				Contrato			50000008	Inormal
Contato cliente						Tipo de c	ontrato		Contrato nor	nal 👻
Telefone						ID de Terr	mos e condições			
Representante de vendas interno						Status			Ativo	
Referência A						Moeda			EUR Eur	0
Referência B									🗌 Texto	
Datas						Termos				
Data do contr.	16-06-2011	11:25				Condição	de entrega			
Data efetiva	16-06-2011	11:25				Punto de	passagem <mark>d</mark> e títu	llo		
Data de venc.	30-06-2012					Condiçõe	s de pagamento		060 60	dias da data da factura
Linhas do contrato Dados logísticos de	linha de contrato Terr	mos e condições								
Linhas Exibir Específico 🎒 🗋	16 × 🔒 🖉	0 0								
Posição Dep vendas	Item	Data efetiva	Status	Usar	Usar liberação	Usar	Programação	Tipo de ord. arr	11 37 00.	Usar referência de
				liberação de material	de material para requisitos firmes	program. de expedição	referenciada			expedição
10 VND Departamento v	rendas 6104800002	16-06-2011 - 11:25	:00 - Ativo	Г	Г		Г	(SPV) Saida Pro	ograma de venda	

Figure 21 - Sales contract session

൙ Programação de venda - Linhas									
Arquivo Editar Exibir Ferrament	tas Específico Ajuda	-							
🗗 🖬 🗗 🎒 🗋 🖬 💕	1 🔁 🖬 🐶 💠 💠	1 10 10	₩?						
🍟 🗞 🏎 🖪 🔒 😽	3								
Parceiros de negócios Parceiro de neg. cliente Endereço Contato Parceiro de negócios receptor Endereço Contato	lvesen Gerposa lvesen Gerposa lvesen Gerposa		Controle Progr. Tipo programação Revisão Status			310000035 Programação de expedição 1 Finalização em processamento Programação referenciada Ø Revisões em uso Vinculado às folhas de coleta Ø Usar ord. cliente p/ program.			
Item						C	ontrato		
Sistema cód item						С	ontrato		S0000008 normal
Item do cliente						P	osição		10
Item		6104800002	t.			D	epartamento de contrat	tos	VND Departamento ve
	Throttle body MV	RV				Ordem cliente			
Linhas de programação Ordens de Linhas Exibir Específico 🔄 Uinks de orde 310000 Visão geral do Linhas de ent Linhas fatura Preço e desco Liberar para o	armazém planejadas Linhas D D X D A M M M m de armazém planejada o status da linha de saida rega reais intos rdem	de entreqa reais	Linhas fatura	requisito 12:29	Quantidade solicita 10.0000	da un	Quantidade entregu 10.0000	Je un	Ref.
Histórico		Ctrl+Shift+H	-	-					

Figure 22 - Release SS to order

Tipo de ordem de armazen.	Sector 10 1									
Arquivo Editar Exibir Ferramentas Específico Ajuda	Nat	n 1 2								
Construction de armazen. Construction de armazen.	Image: white the second sec	0 12		S P P S	aída Irocedimento de aconsel Irocedimento exped. aída G cara linha da cadana	namento de saída	001	Saida1 Expediçao1		
Gerar linhas da ordem de entrada planejada Gerar lotes automaticamente Gerar série automaticamente										
Geral Gerar automaticament ordem de frete Gerar ordens frete p/ linhas da ordem planejada	Geral Transferência Gerar automaticament ordem de frete Criar ord. repos. Gerar ordens frete p/ linhas da ordem planejada Criar ord. repos.									
Ativ. de recebimento Atividades de inspeção Ativ. de aviso d Linhas Exibir Específico 🎒 🗋 🖻 🖄 🗙 🙀	e saída Ativ. c	de expediçã	ăo							
Atividade	Aplicável A	Automát.	Cópias	Disposit. saída	Imprimir etiquetas de unidades de gestão	Mét. impressão etiq.	Número de cópias da etiqueta	Dispositivo da etiqueta	Layout d	a etiqueta 🖍
whinh4201m000 🕨 Gerar aconselhamento de saída	₹	Г	0		Não 🗸	Não aplicável 👻	0			
whinh4202m000 Liberar aconselhamento de saíd	√	Г	0		Sim -	Por unidade 🛛 👻	1	Windows Printer	001 🕨	etiq1
whinh4415m000 🕨 Gerar Lista de separação	Г	Г	0		Não 🗸	Não aplicável 💌	0			
whinh4525m100 🕨 Lista de separação	Г	Г	0		Não 🗸	Não aplicável 👻	0			
whinh3122m000 Inspeções de armazém	Г	Г	0		Não 🔻	Não aplicável 👻	0			
								whinh0610m000 3	00	

Figure 23 – Setting a type of warehouse order

🔗 Tipos de ordem padrão por origem (Modo de exibição atual: Origem da ordem, tipo de transação, origem 🗔 💷 🔤 👘								
Arqu	<u>A</u> rquivo <u>E</u> ditar E <u>x</u> ibir <u>G</u> rupo <u>F</u> erramentas E <u>s</u> pecífico Ajuda							
🚰 🖬 🎒 🗅 🖻 🗙 🗗 😰 🚘 🌬 🔶 🔶 🖊 🍄 🖗 🖗 🔗 🍕 🚿 🛛 📢								
Origem da ordem Programa de vendas 💌								
	Tipo de transação Origem Destino Tipo de ordem Criar expedição 🔺							
	Baixa	Armazém	Parceiro de negócios	SPV Saida Programa de venda	Sempre			
	Transferência	Armazém	Armazém	TRF Tranferencias	Sempre			
					· ·			
I —								
			w	hinh0120m000 300				

Figure 24 – Type of warehouse orders by origin

In Figure 25 is an example of a warehouse order. Inside the red circle are the buttons which allow you to carry out the activities, such as generate outbound advice and release it. On the tab of shipment lines (orange) other steps can be followed, and the green circle symbolizes the already chosen, on the contract, type of warehouse order.

Finally, the remaining step is to release the order to invoicing (Figure 26).

Ordem de armazenamento	AN INTER AND ADDRESS	**************************************	
<u>A</u> rquivo <u>E</u> ditar E <u>x</u> ibir <u>F</u> erramentas E <u>s</u> pe	cífico Ajuda		
F - 7 - 3 D b f b [· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
	5 🐴 🕾 🏖 📽 🕼 👦 🔁		
Ordem Programa de ve	ndas - 31000035	1 🗌 Bla	oq. Expedido
Tipo de transação Baixa	*		
Origem		Destino	
Código 300 Arma	zém 👻 🕅 🐨	Código	300 Parceiro de negócios
Armazén Peças	Semi-Acabadas		Christian Salvesen Gerposa
Endereço G0000001	Sonafi	Endereço	G00000003 Christian Salvesen
Local		Local	
Data de entr. 16-06-2011	The second secon	Data recebim.	16-06-2011
Informações de ordem		Transferência do item	
Série		De	
Tipo de ordem	Programa de venda	Ao	
Departamento VND	Departamento vendas		
Linhas de entrada Linhas de saída Atividad	es Linhas de recebim. Linhas de expedição	\sim	
Linhas Exibir Específico 🎒 📋 📭	× 🖬 🖉 🛛 🛈 🛅 🚱 🕾	* (# .) 7 4 b b	
Ln. ordem Item Quant	id. ordenada Quantidade ordenada Qua em unidade de inventário em	unidade expedida Ordem St unidade de inventário cliente	atus da linha Bloq. Cancelado
1 0 6104800002 10.0	000 un 10.0000 un	10.0000 un Ex	pedido 🗂 Г

Figure 25 – Going through a warehouse order

Liberar ordens de vendas/programações para fa	sturamento	Arep Jonath	? ×
Liberação Ordem V Progr.] Expedição		Liberar
Ordem de vendas Programação de vendas Expedição Tipo ord. vendas Dep vendas Parceiro de neg. cliente PN receptor Faturar para parc. de negócios Referência de exp.	De 310000034	Até - ZZZZZZZZZ - 31000034 - ZZZZZZZZZ - ZZZZ - ZZZZZZZ - ZZZZZZZ - ZZZZZZZZ	Salvar predefinições Obter predefinições Adicionar à tarefa Ords. específicas Reiniciar seleção Help
Opções Incluir custos de frete Inprimir valores EMU também em euros Imprimir linhas liberadas Imprimir erros	Seleção de dispositivos		

Figure 26 – Release SS line to invoicing

1.23 Actions to fulfill a SS – consignment case

Although LN allows the management of VMI scenarios, it is not as easy as setting up (or working with) a normal SS. This is mainly due to the fact that it is necessary to link a terms and conditions agreement to the contract, to hold all agreements reached between BP.

To create an agreement, we have to go to the common data module. There are many options on this agreement, which can lead to very different results – as there are diverse types of VMI. For Sonafi, the crucial setting are represented in Figure 27.

Linha de termos e condições					
<u>Arquivo Editar Exibir Eerramentas Específico Ajuda</u>					
	9 N 🛛 🕸 🕹				
ID de termos e condições	0000006 Recial / 610480	00002	Tipo de termos e condições	Vendas	
Pesquisar nível			PN cliente	PAR0000	05 RECIAL
Prioridade 10					
Posição 10					
Item			Entidades		
Item	6104800002				Gerenc de inventário
Т	rottle body MVRV		PN de gerenciamento	lo inventário	
a sul a su su la su la sultira la					
Ordem Programação Planejamento Logistica Faturam	ento				
Linhas Exibir Especifico 🎯 📋 🖻 🗡 🖬 🕅	e U				
Data de efetivação Data de expiração	Uso na transferência do armazém	Método de atualização do inven	Processo de recebimento	Alteração da propriedade c/ base no período após re	eceb
17-05-2011 - 12:16:28 - 17-05-2013 - 12:16:2	8 🕂 Não 💆	Recebimentos e consum 💌	Automático (O item recebido é expedido) 🔽 🔲 🛛 🖉 🖉 🖉	•

Figure 27 – Logistics terms and conditions agreement

The reason why the option on the "use on the warehouse transfer" has to be set as "no" is because the goods are first going to change location, inside Sonafi, and are still going to remain their property. So, it cannot be considered a consumption. Automatically, this sets the SS line attached to this agreement as "pay on use", instead of "pay on receipt". In turn, the method of inventory update defines how the administrative warehouse updates the inventory levels.

The field regarding the receiving processes determines how receipts/consumptions are registered in the administrative warehouse. With the option selected in the Figure 27, receipts are performed automatically and are based on the shipped quantities of transfer orders. The last option, "time-based ownership change after receipt", is not applicable in this case, since we do not want the goods' ownership changing from the supplier to the customer a fixed period after the goods being received.

After having a particular terms and conditions agreement created for one item, between the supplier and the client, there is a field in the contract to enter the respective identification that has to be filled.

Another difference between the two types of orders, is that, when creating the SS, the user has to be extremely careful not to forget to go to the SS details and change the type of order to "warehouse transfer" (Figure 28). Besides, he also has to open the line (double-click on the line), and enter reference numbers (Figure 29), which are going to be afterwards used in the inventory consumption session to link the goods' withdrawn to the SS (Figure 30).

൙ Programações de venda			
<u>A</u> rquivo E <u>x</u> ibir <u>F</u> erramen	itas E <u>s</u> pecífico Ajuda		
	🖆 🔛 🧭 🕕 💦		
Item e parceiro Expedição	Eaturamento Pagamento Cl	IMs Outros	
Progr.	31000032	Origem	Manual
Tipo programação	Programação de exped	ongen	Programação referenciada
Revisão	1		✓ Revisões em uso
Status	Aprovado		Vinculado às folhas de coleta
			☑ Usar ord. cliente p/ program.
Autorizações			
FAB por data			
RAW po data			V A
Autorização FAB		0.0000	un
Autorização RAW		0.0000	un
Autorização FAB mais al	ta	0.0000	un
Autorização RAW mais a	lta	0.0000	un
Venda			
Kamo atividade			
Area			
Contatos internos Planeiador			
Vendedor			
- Children		1	
Seleção lote		Qualquer	
Tipo de ordem		Transferência	a do armazém

Figure 28 – Setting the type of order to warehouse transfer

rquivo Exibir Ferramentas Específico Ajuda					
7 🖬 🎒 🗋 🖻 📽 🔯 🕼 📢					
equisições Referência Faturamento Dados reais					
Progr.	310000032 Revisão 1				
Tipo programação	Programação de expedição				
Posição	20 Status Mercadorias entregu				
Parceiro de negócios					
Parceiro de neg. cliente	PAR000005 RECIAL				
Parceiro de negócios receptor	PAR000005 RECIAL				
Expedir para armazém	CONSIG Consignação				
Endereço de destino	G00000001 Sonafi				
Transportad.					
Referência	\frown				
Número de programação de clientes	12				
Posição de programação de cliente	20				
Ref.					
Ref. Referência de exp.					
Ref. Referência de exp. Local. dock					

Figure 29 – Entering the reference numbers to be used on the inventory consumption session

Consumo de inventário - Linhas	Freedow Ala	T FF	
guivo gaitar existir genrament F 🖬 🚑 🎒 🗋 🗈 🗟 B X	as especifico Ajuda ② Ana k⊅ ¢> ¢> ¢> ∰ (k.?		
Geral PN cliente PN receptor Armazém Sistema de códigos de item Item do cliente Item Descrição Uni de inventári	PAR000005 RECIAL PAR000005 RECIAL CONSIG Consignação	Quantidades totais Recebido Consumido Processado Faturado A fatura não é necessária A ser processado	352.0000 201.0000 201.0000 201.0000 0.0000 0.0000
Gerenciamento de inventário Parceiro de negócios	Gerenciamento de inventário PAR000005 RECIAL	Estoque físico De propriedade da companhia De propriedade do cliente	151.0000
inhas de consumo de inventário (inhas Exibir Específico () Quantidade consumida 3.0000 un	Ordens por linha de consumo de inventário □ □ → × → → # □ → □ Data de consumo 18-05-2011 → 15:27 ÷ 11	10 Not	a despacho
4.0000 un 10.0000 un	18-05-2011 • 15:36 12 14-06-2011 • 11:31 14	20	[
		tdsls4640m000	300

Figure 30 – Inventory consumption session

Signaling the withdrawal of goods only happens after managing the warehouse transfer, but, since handling a warehouse transfer is quite similar (besides the different steps have already been explained in the previous chapter) to handling a warehouse transfer, it is not necessary to show it again.

The only particular aspect about consignment that has not already been focused is how to set an administrative warehouse. In order to achieve this, when creating this particular warehouse, on the "warehouses" session, the only difference resides on the tab about "relations", because it is not Sonafi that carries out warehouse management (Figure 31). Also, parameterization is set to define that the warehouse is not owned by the company.

൙ Arma	zéns		-						Constant and	Harrison		-	
<u>A</u> rquivo	E <u>x</u> ibi	r <u>F</u> err	rame	ntas	Espe	ífico	Ajuda						
e e	9			b	٢	ø	Ű	?					
Geral	Avalia	ição de	: inve	entário	Rel	ações	Locais	Le	ad Times	Unidade	s de gestão	Etiqs.	Expedições
Arm	Armazém CONSIG Consignação												
Unid	Unidade empresarial SON300 Sonafi												
-													
Gere	nciame	nto do	inve	ntario						(Berenci	amento d	lo inventário
Parc	eiro de	neaóci	ios								PAR00000	5	RECIAL
Proc	esso de	entrac	la ma	anual p	permit	tido					Sim		•
Proc	esso de	saída	manı	ual per	mitid	0					Sim		•
Corr	ecões n	nanuai	s ner	mitida	۰						Sim		•
Cont	tagem	de ciclo	s pen	anual n	ermit	ida					Sim		•
com	ugenne		/3 1110	muun p	, crimin	iuu					5		
Prop	riedade												
Utiliz	z. na tra	nst. do	arm	azem							Sempre		
Loca	I										~		
Loca	l extern	0								<u>с</u>	Sim		-
Parc	eiro de	negóci	ios								PAR00000	5	RECIAL
Agru	Agrupamento de distribuição												
Parce	eiro de	negóci	os										
Forn	ecedor											•	
Orig	em											•	
Clier	nte										PAR00000	5	RECIAL
Dest	ino										PAR00000	5	RECIAL

Figure 31 – Setting an administrative warehouse

1.24 Customizations

"A key issue in ERP implementation is how to find a match between the ERP system and an organization's business processes by appropriately customizing both the system and the organization" (Luo & Strong, 2001, p. 322). It is not by chance that this is one of the most important CSF, and brings a big input on time and money spent. Although ERP systems are a packaged software solution, rather than customized systems, it may be necessary to perform some changes.

According to Davenport (1998), choosing the modules to be installed, the ones most appropriate to the business, is already a configuration. Bigger customizations can go from large programmatic changes, which mold the system to the way the company works, to simple additions or removals of specific fields on documents, such as sales orders, purchase orders, or invoices. Also, it is possible to create a new interface, to allow this system to interact with other systems, by altering the source code of the ERP.

"As we move from module customization to code customization, the costs and risks increase; the benefits, however, may or may not increase" (Luo & Strong, 2001, p. 325). If managers do not want to go the extra mile to use BPR to fit processes to the system, and instead choose the opposite, they have to bear in mind that changes may affect not only the initial implementation, but also future maintenance and upgrades.

Therefore, an enterprise has to balance between the suitability of standard versions, performing no changes to increase the functional fit, and needed customizations, because there is still a gap on functionality after reengineering business processes. Fewer

customizations lead to increased vendor/consultants independency in the future, less risk, and smaller investments, however, the more alterations performed, the greater the flexibility in adapting the system to organizational needs. All this trade-off should be weighed and decided during the design and building implementations phases, because it is at this time that consultants are creating the "To Be" processes and performing the pilot tests (Figure 32).



Figure 32 – Trade-off between standard versions and customizations performed (CompelConsultancy, 2011)

In spite of already having the prototype well advanced, until this point there is no indication that Sonafi's ERP may need big customizations. The business processes performed at this company do not escape largely from manufacturing industry practices, hence, the only changes that may be necessary are alterations on documents.

1.25 Results evaluation

Throughout Chapters 3 and 4, the problems apprehended from the meetings with the client's project director were already discussed, as well as the many advantages and changes brought by the new ERP version.

However, there is not yet a concrete, summarized, comparison between the two systems. Table 7 outlines the practical implications and improvements to be achieved upon system migration.

Problems in Baan	Solutions with LN
Documents that have to be printed but are not necessary	Only the delivery note, an obligatory document to accompany the shipment, is printed
There is no unique procedure to complete consignment, so it is necessary to create a SS plus a sales order to perform consignment	There is a specific, appropriate, process for this case, and it can all be performed on the same SS
It is not possible to reprint a label, if the information is changed	Flexibility was added on the session to print labels
The software only allows the entire manufacturing order to be subcontracted	Multiple order statuses are used to control production. This mechanism allows you to determine what subcontracting orders can be generated at a specific stage in the production
Material requirements planning is not performed: sales, purchases, and manufacturing are not linked	The module "Enterprise planning" adds and improves functionality, with master planning and detailed order planning performed more simply. It only depends on managers to start using the functionalities already present on the software
Lack of accurate information inserted in the system by employees	With the right training and clarification, users can learn how to work the system correctly
In general the processes are confusing and information is difficult to find	This version is much more user-friendly, with many functionalities (dashboards, header and lines all in the same session, filters) to make navigation easier
Reluctancy to change from Excel to the ERP	Besides having integration with Microsoft Office, which can create a bridge between the change, since user will have training, there is a new opportunity to make them realize the advantages

Table 7 – Summary of improvements with the new ERP LN FP7

Comparing with the objectives proposed on chapter 3 – visibility of business operations, improved operation efficiency, and deliver clients' orders faster – they can only be measured after the project is finished, that is, after the new version is installed, all training conducted, and having the system up and running for a some weeks. Nonetheless, until this point we can conclude that the enhancements proposed have all the potential to provide the mentioned improvements, especially if the company starts using Enterprise Planning, to have a complete vision on the SC.

Even so, if they continue to do the same, they will be able to do it better, as shown in Table 7. The processes presented in this document fairly distinguish "who does what", so each user knows his function. However, at the same time, presented with an overall insight on the process, the user also knows what the other departments need.

Conclusions

In this dissertation, we have discussed how an ERP implementation represents a great risk of failure, either by exceeding time or/and budget. The main reasons given for this problem are the lack of top management commitment, the absence of change management, and excessive software customization. Some of the other causes mentioned are poor training, the project team, and not using consultants. The challenge is analyze all obstacles to the project and grab the vast potential improvements ERP has to offer.

ERP solutions are appropriate when a company is seeking the benefits of EI and best practices in its information system. After accomplishing an effective information flow across all departments, enterprises are on the right path to achieve unification with business partners, in order to improve customer service.

Sonafi already has an ERP system installed, Baan IV, however, as an automotive component supplier, this company knows that his clients' requirements change fast, and they have to be prepared. Moreover, if they fail the delivery dates, they lose the clients. So, they decided it was time to upgrade their system, in order to assure the use of the most modern practices.

To achieve the maximum benefits possible from the implementation of the ERP LN FP7, an implementation methodology was followed. OPIM has five stages, but during a period of five months when the author was at ID6, only the first three were conceived – initiate, design, and build.

Although the implementation was not completed, throughout the time the dissertation endured, the intricacy of the project was clear. The reality is complicated in companies where there are different opinions and more than one person in charge. Consultants had to face contrary interests, and overcome politics to push the project's initiation, seen as the support from the client's management was not clear from the beginning.

Regarding the other critical success factors to succeed in an ERP implementation, some will depend on training, but it is safe to say that excessive customization will not be an obstacle. Sales Order Fulfillment was the business process chosen to start the prototype because it is the more complex procedure they currently perform with the ERP system. Comparing the two types, normal SS and consignment, although they have some differences between them, both can not only be adapted from Baan to the LN, but even improved.

One other objective of this project was to assure that the business processes could be performed without the use of an extension, such as the one added to the supply chain on Baan IV. This goal was achieved completely, seen as the standard version of LN is prepared for all types of sales orders performed by Sonafi.

For someone who had never even seen how an ERP works, but rather possessed only theoretical knowledge on what it should do, it was challenging to study not only one system, but two. This study also allowed the author to have a clear picture of the discrepancies, not already being used to navigate on one of them. Also, the author is confident that now that she knows the functions, the buttons, and the sessions of the ERP, it will be much quicker and easier to install other business processes.

From the developments performed until this point – parameterizations completed, test data inserted, and the most important business process studied – the enhancements are clear. Besides an evident ease of use, which goes in favor for the users who are against changing from other applications to the ERP system, steps to accomplish the sale are reduced, with no

unnecessary documents printed and more flexibility allowed by LN. For sure, these improvements will have to be greatly highlighted during future training, in order to balance the change introduced, and, above all, to install a sense of necessity. Everybody needs to understand that their work is not at risk. On the contrary: it would be facilitated.

One other change that could largely improve efficiency would be the use of a master plan, in order to link the entire company. With this introduction, the use of complementary programs would be drastically reduced, if not abolished. All information concerning the SC would be integrated, all departments would share information, operations would be completed faster, and, finally, customers would receive their products in a shorter time. This is the main objective of an ES such as an ERP, and currently is not being utilized.

References

- Asif, M., Fisscher, O., Bruijn, E., & Pagell, M. (2010). Integration of management systems: A methodology for operational excellence and strategic flexibility. *Operations* management research, 3(3-4), pp.146-160.
- Baan. (1996). Supply Chain Sales Schedule Control.
- Beatty, R., & Williams, C. (2006). ERP II: best practices for successfully implementing an ERP upgrade. *Communications on the ACM, 49*(3), pp.105-109.
- Bendoly, E., & Jacobs, R. (2005). *Strategic ERP extension and use*. Stanford: Stanford Business Books.
- Bowersox, D. J. (1989). Leading edge logistics: Competitive positioning for the 1990's : comprehensive research on logistics organization, strategy and behavior in North America. Oak Brook: Council of Logistics Management.
- Braunscheidel, M., & Suresh, N. (2007). The organizational antecedents of a firm's supply chain agility for risk mitigation and response. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27(2009), pp.119–140.
- Brett, G. (2010). ERP is Only Part of a Business Solution. B. S. Defined. Retrieved May 2011, from <u>http://gbeaubouef.wordpress.com/2010/11/16/erp-business-solution/</u>
- Buker, I. (2011). Checklist for a Successful ERP System. Retrieved March 2011, from <u>http://www.buker.com/successful-epr-implementation.php</u>
- Bullen, C., & Rockart, J. (1981). A primer on critical success factors. Center for Information Systems Research, 69(1220-81), pp. 1-75.
- Chang, S.-I. (2004). *ERP life cycle implementation, management and support: implications for practice and research.* Paper presented at the 37th International Conference on System Sciences, Hawaii.
- Chung, B., Skibniewski, M., Jr., H. L., & Kwak, Y. (2008). Analyzing Enterprise Resource Planning system implementation success factors in the engineering–construction industry. *Journal of computing in civil engineering November/December*, pp.373-382.
- Chung, S., & Snyder, C. (2000). ERP adoption: a technological evolution approach. International Journal of Agile Management Systems, 2(1), pp.24-32.
- CompelConsultancy. (2011). Services Retrieved June 2010, from <u>http://compelconsultancy.com/Services/Services.html</u>
- CSCMP. (2011). Supply Chain Management Definitions. Retrieved May 2011, from http://cscmp.org/aboutcscmp/definitions.asp
- Davenport, T. H. (1998). Putting the Enterprise into the Enterprise system. *Harvard Business Review* (July-August), pp.121-131.
- Davenport, T. H., & Brooks, J. (2004). Enterprise systems and the supply chain. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 17(1), pp.8-19.
- Delloite&Touche. (2002). Achieving, measuring and communicating IT value.
- Donavan, M. (2011). Supply chain management transformation. Retrieved May 2011, from http://www.rmdonovan.com/supply_chain_management/
- Ehie, I., & Madsen, M. (2004). Identifying critical issues in enterprise resource planning (ERP) implementation. *Computers in Industry*, *56*(2005), pp.545–557.
- Ellinger, A. (2000). Improving marketing/logistics cross-functional collaboration in the Supply Chain. *Industrial Marketing Management, 29*(2000), pp.85–96.
- Ellinger, A., Daugherty, P., & Gustin, C. (1996). The relationship between integrated logistics and customer service. *Transportation research part E: logistics and transportation review*, 33(2), pp.129-138.

- ERP.Asia. (2010). ERP software history. Retrieved May 2011, from <u>http://www.erp.asia/erp-history.asp</u>
- Finney, S., & Corbett, M. (2007). ERP implementation: a compilation and analysis of critical success factors. Business Process Management Journal, 13(3), pp.329-347.
- Gable, G. G. (2005). The enterprise system lifecycle: through a knowledge management lens. *Strategic Change*, *14*(2005), pp.255–263.
- Ganly, D. (2011). Address six key factors for successful ERP implementations. *Gartner* research(G00206726), pp. 1-9.
- Group, P. C. (2011). 2011 ERP report. P. c. g. r. report.
- Guimaraes, T., & Saraph, J. (1991). The role of prototyping in executive decision systems *Information & Management, 21*(5), pp.257-267
- Gunasekaran, A., & Ngai, E. (2003). Information systems in supply chain integration and management. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 159(2004), pp.269-295.
- Hestermann, C., & Woods, J. (2009). Q&A: What ERP is and what the associated terms really mean. *Gartner research*(G00170997).
- ID6. (2008a). Home. Retrieved March 2011, from http://www.id6.pt/index.php
- ID6. (2008b). Sobre a ID6. Retrieved March 2011, from http://www.id6.pt/sobre_id6.php?pag=1
- ID6. (2008c). Soluções. Retrieved March 2011, from <u>http://www.id6.pt/solucoes.php?pag=3</u>
- Inc., E. (2010). ERP overview. Retrieved April 2011, from http://www.exforsys.com/tutorials/oracle-apps/erp-overview.html
- Infor. (2008a). User's guide for purchase and sales schedules.
- Infor. (2008b). User's guide for vendor managed inventory. U9501B US
- Infor. (2010a). Difference study ERP LN 6.1 FP6 FP7. P3648A US
- Infor. (2010b). Differences study Baan IVc- ERP LN 6.1 Overview. P3558B US
- Infor. (2010c). Functions and features. P3496H US
- Infor. (2010d). Version definition. D4070A US
- Infor. (2011a). Company. Retrieved March 2011, from http://www.infor.com/company/
- Infor. (2011b). Proposal of Infor LN FP7.
- Jacobs, F. R., & Jr., F. W. (2006). Enterprise resource planning (ERP) A brief history. Journal of Operations Management, 25(2007), pp.357–363.
- Kaila, I. (2007). Eight Styles for End-to-End Order Management. Gartner research(G00150042).
- Kim, S., & Narasimhan, R. (2002). Information system utilization in supply chain integration efforts. *International Journal of Production Research*, 40(18), pp.4585-4609.
- Klaus, H., Rosemann, M., & Gable, G. (2002). What is ERP? *Information Systems Frontiers*, 2(2), pp.141-162.
- Kremers, M., & Dissel, H. (2000). ERP system migrations. *Communications on the ACM*, 43(4), pp.53-56.
- Luo, W., & Strong, D. (2001). A framework for evaluating ERP implementation choices. *IEEE Transactions on engineering management*, 51(3), 322-333.
- Mentzer, J. T. (2004). Fundamentals of Supply Chain Management: Twelve Drivers of Competitive Advantage. Thousand Oak: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Montgomery, N. (2004). Build your business case for upgrades by adding functionality. *Computer Weekly*. from

http://www.computerweekly.com/Articles/2004/02/10/200101/Build-your-businesscase-for-upgrades-by-adding-functionality.htm

- Olson, D. L., & Zhao, F. (2006). CIOs' perspectives of critical success factors in ERP upgrade projects. *Enterprise Information Systems*, 1(1), pp.129-138.
- Pagell, M. (2002). Understanding the factors that enable and inhibit the integration of operations, purchasing and logistics. *Journal of Operations Management*, 22(2004), pp.459–487.
- Panayides, P. M. (2004). The impact of organizational learning on relationship orientation, logistics service effectiveness and performance. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 36(2007), pp.68-80
- Pereira, E. (2010). Demo ERP LN (pp. 20101222): Infor.
- Putra, J. (2011). Case #2: SAP ERP implementation for state owned electricity company. Retrieved April 2011, from <u>http://julian.asia/2011/02/01/case-2-sap-erp-implementation-for-state-owned-electricity-company/</u>
- Rajagopal, P. (2001). An innovation—diffusion view of implementation of enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems and development of a research model. *Information & Management*, 40(2002), pp.87–114.
- Rogers, B. (2008). Prototyping Retrieved June 2011, from <u>http://web.sxu.edu/rogers/sys/prototype.html</u>
- Rutner, S., Gibson, B., & Williams, S. (2003). The impacts of the integrated logistics systems on electronic commerce and enterprise resource planning systems. *Transportation Research Part E, 39*(2003), pp.83-93.
- Sarker, S., & Lee, A. (2002). Using a case study to test the role of three key social enablers in ERP implementation. *Information & Management, 2031*(2002), pp.1-17.
- SCC. (2010). Supply Chain Operations Reference (SCOR) model. from <u>http://supply-chain.org/f/SCOR-Overview-Web.pdf</u>
- SCC. (2011). What is SCOR? , from http://supply-chain.org/scor
- Sharp, A., & McDermott, P. (2009). Workflow Modeling (Second ed.). Norwood: Artech House.
- Shehab, E., Momoh, A., & Roy, R. (2010). Challenges in enterprise resource planning implementation: state-of-the-art. Business Process Management Journal, 16(4), pp.537-565.
- Siems, T. (2005). Who supplied my cheese? Supply chain management in the global economy. *Business Economics*, 40(4), pp.6-21.
- Software, B. (2011). Top 20 ERP software vendors revelead. Retrieved March 2011, from <u>http://www.business-software.com/erp-reports/erp-software.php</u>
- Somers, T., & Nelson, K. (2002). A taxonomy of players and activities across the ERP project life cycle. *Information & Management, 41*(2004), pp.257–278.
- Sonafi. (2010). Company Retrieved March 2011, from http://www.sonafi.pt/index_en.html
- Stackpole, B. (2011). Five signs it's time for an ERP system upgrade. *ERP Implementation*. Retrieved May 2011, from <u>http://whatiserp.net/erp-implementation/five-signs-its-time-for-an-erp-system-upgrade/</u>
- Su, Y.-f., & Yang, C. (2008). Why are enterprise resource planning systems indispensable to supply chain management? *European Journal of Operational Research*, 203(2010), pp.81–94.
- Swanton, B. (2004). Build ERP upgrade costs into the business change programme not the IT budget. Retrieved May 2011, from <u>http://www.computerweekly.com/Articles/2004/09/21/205175/Build-ERP-upgrade-costs-into-the-business-change-programme-not-the-IT.htm</u>

Thilmany, J. (2010). Moving to midsize. Mechanical Engineering, 48(December).

- Ward, P., & Zhou, H. (2006). Impact of Information Technology Integration and Lean/Just-In-Time Practices on Lead-Time Performance. *Decision Sciences*, *37*(2), pp.177-203.
- Zhao, X., Huo, B., Flynn, B., & Heung, J. (2008). The impact of power and relationship commitment on the integration between manufacturers and customers in a supply chain. *Journal of Operations Management*, 26(3), pp.368–388.
- Zhao, X., Huo, B., Selend, W., & Yeunga, J. H. Y. (2009). The impact of internal integration and relationship commitment on external integration. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29(2010), pp.17-32.

Appendix A: Organizational Chart



Figure 33 – Sonafi's project organizational chart

ERP LN implementation in a industrial context

Appendix B: Detailed plan

1 1	10-4-2																														
	10-21																														
1 1	10-01	2,0																													
1 1	100-60																														
1 1	198-92																														
1 1	192-61																														
1 1	192-Set																														
1 1	tes-co																														
Ab Consumption Consupoin Consumption Con	29-Ago																														
A. br Consultor Fundional Manufacturation A. br M. br	Inc-11																														
Matrix	Inc-40	1,0		3,0																											
Ab Consultor Functional Manufactures Markation Markati	unc-72	1,0	1,0	3,0																											
Sub-relation for the formation of	20-Jun	1,0		1,0																											
Supervisora do projecto - Adelia Fortes Supervisora do projecto - Jaino de tabalho In 10 <td>unC-€↑</td> <td>1,0</td> <td>1,0</td> <td>4,0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>ļ</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>ļ</td> <td></td>	unC-€↑	1,0	1,0	4,0					ļ								ļ														
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes. Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes. 0.04-Abí 1,0 <t< td=""><td>unc-90</td><td>1,0</td><td></td><td>3,0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>ļ</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	unc-90	1,0		3,0										ļ																	
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes. Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes. 10	16 M-05	1,0	1,0	4,0																											
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes 10 <	isM-85	1,0	1,0	2,0		ļ								ļ													_				
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes 0.4.4.bb 10	isM-81	1,0	1,0	2,0																		-									
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes 10 <	isM-00	1,0	1,0	4,0																											
Supervisora do projecto - Adeila Fortes Supervisora do projecto - Adeila Fortes 10 <	isM-20	2,0		4,0					ļ																						
Supenvisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes	25-Abr	1,0	2,0	4,0																											
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes 10 10 10 Consultor Funcional IManufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional INanufactura - Mariana Bessa 20 10 10 Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa 0 20 10 10 10 10 Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa 0 20 10 20 10 10 Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa 0 10 20 10 20 10	1dA-8f	1,0	1,0	4,0																											
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes 10 Consultor Functional Idanufactura - Mariana Bessa 2.0 Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado 1.00 Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 1.00 Acompanhamento 1.00 Recolha de dados - Amicana 1.00 Recolha de dados - Amicana de dados - Amicana 1.00 Recolha detalhada de dados - Amicana	1dA-ff	1,0	1,0	4,0																											
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Intervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Intervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Functional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Econsultor Functional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Intervisora Consultor Functional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Intervisora Intervisora Consultor Functional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Intervisora Intervisora Consultor Functional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Intervisora Intervisora Or Project start Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Or Project start Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Or Project start Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Or Project start Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Accompanhamento Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Intervisora Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Intervisora Intervisora Recolha detalhada de dados - Conter to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Conter to Pay Intervisora Intervisora Recolha detalhada de dados - Conter to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Conter to Pay	1dA-40	1,0	2,0	2,0																											
Supervisoria do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Functional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Functional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Companização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompandamento Acompandamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remonto ao FP7 da Sonafi Project statí finished Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Sonder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Sonder Recolha detalhada de dados - Sonder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Sonder Recolha					Resp	Infor	Infor	1D6	ID6		1D6	ID6	ID6	ID6	ID6	ID6	ID6	ID6	ID6	ID6	ID6		ID6	ID6		ID6	ID6	ID6	ID6	1D6	
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompanhamento Acompanhamento Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Project start finished Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Strico Bercolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Strico Bercever e validar o relatório da recolha detalhada de dados Determinar e especificar nores chave Elaboração, apresentação e aceitação do modelo Carregar dados de teste Elaborar orçamento de personalizações : fichas caixa, vale trabalho, OC, OV, FAT, GF Aualitzar Infor ERP LN com as weeklys solutions Executar protótipo Tarefas de ajustes e remodelagem Aceitar protótipo Definir acessos e menus dos utilizadores + finalização DEM																		Ĩ	BL					Nor							
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa O Project Start Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acreso a o FP7 da Sonafi I Project araceso Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Autalizar Infor ERP LN com as weeklys solutions Executar protótipo Tartefas de ajustes e remodelagem Aceitar protótipo Dafinir acessos e menus dos utilizadores + finalização DEM																			volve					GR.							
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Functional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Functional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Functional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa O Project Start Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso e PP7 da Sonafi I Project Start fini sta Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de dados - Fabrico Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Fabrico Recolha detalhada de dados - Crider to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Estrever e validar o relatividos de deservolvimento e interfaces a d formação aso utilizadores chave Elaboração. apresentação e a ceitação do modelo Carregar dados de teste Carregar dados de teste Carr																			esen					FAT.							
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Project Start finished Acompanhamento Project start finishad Recolha de dados - Fahrazéns Recolha de dados - Annazéns Recolha de dados - Annazéns Recolha de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Carregar dados de teste Formação aos utilizadores chave Escrever e validar or caração do modelo Carregar dados de teste Formação aos utilizadores chave Carregar dados de sete Carregar dados de teste Formação aos utilizadores caitação do modelo																			ad					10							
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi I Project start finished Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de dados - Order to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Encloa detalhada Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Encloa detalhada Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Sitata de dados Determinar e especificar necessidades de deservolvimento e interf Formação apresentação e aceitação do modelo 2. Design finished Aunalizar Infor ERP LN co																			aces					00							
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Onsultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Onsultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Project stat finished Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Escrever e validar o relatório da recolha detalhada de dados Determinar e especificar necessidades de deservolvimento e ir Formação aos utilizadores chave Elaboração, apresentação e aceitação do modelo Ossimulation finished Atualizar Infor ERP LN com as weeklys solutions Erelaborar orgamento de personalização do modelo <td></td> <td>nterf</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>alho</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>																			nterf					alho							
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Orpertização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Recolha de dados - Finanças Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de talhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha de talhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Recolha detalhada de dados - Suter o Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Recolha detalhada de dados - Suter o Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - Suter o Cash Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Escorever e validar o relatóño do modelo <																			eir					trab							
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa O. Project Start Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalhado Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de talhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Escrever e validar o relatório da recolha detalhada de da Determinar e especificar necessidades de desenvolvim Formação aos utilizadores chave Elaborar orgamento de personalizações : fichas caixa, a Simulation finished Aceitar protótipo Definir aceisots e menus dos utilizadores + finalização L Definir aceisot e menus dos utilizadores + finalização D Definir aceisot e menus dos utilizadores + finalização D																		dos	ento					/ale						DEM	
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa O. Project Start Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho detalha Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de talhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha de talhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha de talhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha de talhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha de talhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha de talhada de dados - Corder to Pay Recolha de talhada de dados - EDI Escrever e validar o relatório da recolha detalhada d Determinar e especificar necessidades de desenvol Formação aos utilizadores chave Elaborar orçamento de personalizações : fichas ca 3. Simulation finished Atualizar Infor ERP LN com as weeklys solutions Executar protótipo Tarefas de ajustes e remodelagem Aceitar protótipo Definir acessos e menus dos utilizadores + finalizaç						융								ge				e da	vim					ixa,						ão L	
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Bessa Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Bessa O. Project Start Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho det Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Acompanhamento Recolha de dados Finanças Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha de talhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - EDI Escrever e validar o relatório da recolha detalha Carregão aos utilizadores chave Elaboração, apresentação e aceitação do mode Carregar finished Carregar dados de teste Eelaborar orçamento de personalizações : ficha Atualizar Infor ERP LN com as weeklys solutions Executar protótipo Tarefas de ajustes e remodelagem Aceitar protótipo Definir acessos e menus dos utilizadores + fina			-	-		alha								alid				da d	INVO		0			s ca						lizaç	
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Mariana Be Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Be Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mariana Be O. Project Start Organização do Projecto - plano de trabalho Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sonafi Acompanhamento Recolha de dados Finanças Recolha de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Armazéns Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Solder to Cas Recolha detalhada de dados - Order to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Solder to Cas Recolha detalhada de dados - Solder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Solder to Cas Recolha detalhada de dados - Solder to Pay Recolha detalhada de dados - Solder to Cas Recolha detalhada de dados - Solder to Cas Pañorar orçamento de personalizações : f Aualizar Infor ErP LN com as weeklys solut Aceitar protótipo Definir acessos e menus dos utilizadores + A Deblov Tinishad			esse	esse		deta								Ou	-			lhad	lese	. 1	ode			cha		ions				final	
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Fortes Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Marian Consultor Funcional Manufactura - Marian Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Marian Organização do Projecto - plano de trab Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da Sona Recolha de dados - Armazén Recolha de talhada de dados - Order to Recolha de talhada de dados - Corder to Recolha de talhada de dados - EDI Escrever e validar o relatório da recolha Determiner e espentação e a ceitação c 2. Elaboração, apresentação e a ceitação c 2. Carregar dinished Atualizar Infor ERP LN com as weeklys s Executar protótipo Tarefas de teste Carregar dinished A Daolov I finished			a Be	a Be		alho			-			S		ão e	Casl	A		deta	de		n o			s: fi		olut				+ 58	
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia Forte Consultor Funcional Manufactura - M Consultor Funcional Manufactura - M Consultor Funcional Distribuição - Mi Organização do Projecto - plano de Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID6 Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da S Instalar acesso remoto ao FP7 da S Recolha de dadosFinanças Recolha de dados - Am Recolha de dados - Am Recolha de dados - Code Recolha de dados - Code Recolha detalhada de dados - Am Recolha detalhada de dados - Code		s	arian	arian		trab			ona		ą.	azén	0	tenc	r to	T to F		olha	des		ão c			açõe		dys s				adore	
Supervisora do projecto - Adélia I Consultor Funcional Manufactura Consultor Funcional Distribuição O. Project Start Organização do Projecto - plano Acompanhamento Acompanhamento Recolha de dados Finanças Recolha de dados Finanças Recolha detalhada de dados - I Recolha detalhada de dados - Recolha detalhada de dados datos - Recolha detalhada de dados datos dato dato dato dato dato dato dato dato		orte	- M:	- Mo		de			da			Arm.	abr	lanu	Orde	Idel	ā	rec	sida	e/	eitad			aliz		veek		gem		tiliza	
Supervisora do projecto - Adé Consultor Funcional Manufac Consultor Funcional Distribu Consultor Funcional Distribu Organização do Projecto - p Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN na ID Instalar acesso remoto ao I I. Project start finished Recolha detalhada de dado Recolha de dado Recolha detalhada de dado Recolha detalhada de da		ella F	tura	ição		land		9	Ld.			- S	- S	1- S	- S	S-S	- S	o da	ces	chav	e ac			rsor		as v		lela		n so	
Supervisora do projecto- Consultor Funcional Mar Consultor Funcional Dist Consultor Funcional Dist Organização do Project Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP LN n Instalar acesso remoto 1. Project start finished Recolha de dadosFina Recolha de dadosFina Recolha detalhada de (Recolha detalhada de (Re		-Ad	Infac	tribu		d - 0	8	aD	30		nças	dado	dado	dado	dado	dado	dado	atóri	ar ne	res	ção		e	e pe		mo		moc		p sn	
Supervisora do proje Consultor Funcional Consultor Funcional Consultor Funcional Consultor Funcional O Project Start Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP Instalar acesso rer Acompanhamento Parametrizar ERP Instalar acesso rer Acompanhada Recolha detalhada Recolha detal		cto	Mar	Dis		oject	2	Nn	noto	p	Fina	de	de	de	de	de	de) rel	cific	zado	enta		test	nto d		LN		e re		nen	
Supervisora do Consultor Funci Consultor Funci Consultor Funci Organização d Acompanhami Parametrizar E Instalar acessi 1. Project start fini Recolha detal Recolha detal		oroje	onal	onal		0 Pr	ento	RP	D rer	she	dos	lada	lada	lada	lada	lada	lada	dar c	spe	utili	res	-	s de	mer	hed	RP	odi	stes	0	ser	P
Supervisors Consultor F Consultor F Consultor F Consultor F Consultor F Consultor A Organizac Acompant Parametri Instalar ac Acompant Recolha d Recolha d Recolha d Recolha d Carcela d Formação Elaborar da Formação Elaborar d Carcegar fri Elaborar d Formação Formação Botar for Carcegar fri Elaborar d Formação Formatizar In Evecutar pro Aceitar pro Definir apro		P	unci	unci	t	ão d	ame	arE	ess	t fin	e da	etall	etall	etall	etall	etall	etall	vali	r e e	aos	0, 31	she	lado	orça	finis	for E	rotó	aju	tótip	SS0	ishe
Supervi Consult Consult Consult Consult Consult Paran Recol		sora	Or F	TOL F	Sta	izac	Danh	letriz	ar ac	t stal	had	had	had	ha d	had	had	ha d	ver e	nina	Ição	raçã	n fini	gar o	orar	ation	ar Ir	tar p	S de	r pro	r ace	lfin
SSS FOFTER KKKKKKKKKKK		Dervi	Insul	Insul	ojeci	rgan	Com	aran	stal	ojeci	ecol	ecol	ecol	ecol	ecol	ecol	ecol	scre	eterr	orma	abo	esigr	arre	elab	mula	ualiz	xecu	arefa	ceita	efini	volge
		Suj	S	ပိ	0. Pr	0	A	a.	E	1. Pr	R	R	R	R	R	R	R	Ű	0	ш	ш	2. De	0	ш	3. Si	A	ш	T	A	0	4 D

Figure 34 – Planned tasks and respective dates for ERP LN implementation at Sonafi

The yellow color indicates work in which the author participated, under the care of her supervisor. The other colors represent work performed by other consultants. ERP LN implementation in a industrial context

						Type	of acti	ivities			
	Company	Name	Initials	Project management	Facilities	Design Validation	Development	Documentation	Users training	Data load Start-up and support	
Client's project director	Sonafi										
Infor project's manager	Infor										
Supervisor	Infor	Adélia Fortes	AF								
Finances functional consultant	ID6										
Manufacturing functional consultant	ID6	Mariana Bessa	MB								i.
Distribuition functional consultant	ID6	Mariana Bessa	MB								
Tools technology consultant	ID6										
Analyst programmer consultant	ID6										<i>.</i>

Table 8 – Project activities and responsible team members

eliverables
Project plan
Project progress report
Application installation report
Process and requirement analysis
Process DEMs
Customization analysis
Customization testing
Training documentation
Basic and master data definition
Operational data definition

Figure 35 – Deliverables expected from activities